Building the Architecture for Change:

Guidelines on Article 33 of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities





Mental Disability Advocacy Center

Building the Architecture for Change:

Guidelines on Article 33 of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities



© Mental Disability Advocacy Center Hercegprímás utca 11 H-1051 Budapest, Hungary Tel: + 36 1 413 2730

Fax: +36 1 413 2739 Email: mdac@mdac.info Web: www.mdac.info

1st Edition, March 2011

ISBN: 978-963-87792-1-2

Financial support for the development of this publication has been provided to the Mental Disability Advocacy Center by the Strategic Programme Fund of the UK Government's Foreign and Commonwealth Office. The publication has not been influenced by the donor or any other Government.

The guidelines were produced in English and translated into Croatian, Czech, Easy to Read English, French, German, Hungarian, Portuguese, Russian, Spanish and Turkish. The guidelines are available for free download from MDAC's website.



Table of Contents

Foreword		5
Chantar 1	Overview of the Guidelines	4
Chapter 1.	1.1. Roadmap	
	1.2. Purpose of the Guidelines	
	1.3. Scope	
	1.4. Methods	
	1.5. Funding	
	1.6. Outreach and Experts	
	TI CODD 14 v I CO	1.0
Chapter 2.	The CRPD and Article 33	
	2.1. The Convention	
	2.2. Overview of Article 33	
	2.3. Origins of Article 33	15
Chapter 3.	. Civil Society Participation – Article 33(3)	18
	3.1. Participation as the Lifeblood of the Convention	18
	3.1.1. Participation as Principle	19
	3.1.2. Participation as General Obligation	19
	3.1.3. Participation in Monitoring	20
	3.1.4. Right to Participate in Political and Public Life	20
	3.2. How to Ensure Meaningful Participation	21
	3.2.1. Ensuring Adequate Representation	22
	3.2.2. Ensuing a Good Process	23
Chapter 4.	Championing the Convention within Government – Article 33(1)	26
	4.1. Function of the Focal Point(s)	
	4.1.1. Serve as the CRPD Contact Point	27
	4.1.2. Spearhead the CRPD and its Values throughout Government	27
	4.1.3. Ensure Coordination within Government	28
	4.1.4. Ensure Civil Society Involvement	29
	4.1.5. Conduct a Baseline Analysis at the Time of CRPD Ratification	30
	4.1.6. Publish a National CRPD Implementation Plan	30
	4.1.7. Collate Data and Statistics	31
	4.1.8. Liaise with Domestic and International Human Rights Mechanisms	32
	4.2. Form of the Focal Point(s)	34
	4.2.1. Number of Focal Points(s)	
	4.2.2. Essential Elements of a Focal Point(s)	35
	4.2.3. Existing Focal Point	36
	4.2.4. A Coordination Mechanism Outside the Focal Point(s)	37



Chapter 5. Independent Watchdogs – Article 33(2)	39
5.1. An Interpretation Puzzle	39
5.2. Overview of Article 33(2)	
5.3. Functions of the Framework	
5.3.1. Promote	42
5.3.2. Protect	
5.3.3. Monitor	44
5.4. Form of the Framework	46
5.4.1. Paris Principles	46
5.4.2. Composition and Pluralism	
5.4.3. Civil Society Involvement	
5.4.4. Independence	48
Chapter 6. Checklist for Effective Implementation of Article 33 of the CRPD	51
Chapter 7. Glossary of Terminology and List of Abbreviations	53
Chapter 8. Further Resources	57



Foreword

The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities is a landmark human rights treaty. It obliges State parties to promote, protect and ensure the full and equal enjoyment of all human rights by all persons with disabilities. Equal rights – not just charity, is the message.



Photograph: Terri Potoczna

A number of States have now ratified, or at least signed the Convention and more will follow suit. This makes it urgent to clarify how implementation should be ensured and monitored. Article 33 allows for procedures which are adjusted to the particular legal and administrative system of the country, but requires that the government designate one or more focal points and that it establishes a mechanism for the co-ordination of actions to implement the Convention.

The governments are also required to designate or establish one or more independent mechanisms to promote, protect and monitor the realisation of the treaty. Civil society, in particular representative organisations of persons with disabilities, shall be free to participate fully in the monitoring process.

The implementation of this particular article will affect all of the others. Governments must organise themselves to demonstrate that human rights for persons with disabilities are given priority – and in keeping with the spirit of the Convention. The seriousness of the mechanisms to verify and control the actions taken, and their results, will be decisive. Genuine monitoring will require close involvement of the movement for the equal rights of persons with disabilities and a listening attitude by the authorities.

From what I have seen during my travels to member states of the Council of Europe, a full implementation of the Convention would require dramatic changes. I have, for instance, time after time seen proof of flagrant discrimination against persons with intellectual disabilities and mental health disabilities. They are still stigmatised and marginalised; they are rarely consulted or even listened to; a great number of them continue to be kept in old-style, inhuman institutions; and moves to provide housing and other services in community-based settings have met obstacles and been delayed.

The conditions in some of the so-called "social care homes" are appalling in many countries across Europe. In these segregated institutions very little, if any, habilitation and rehabilitation is provided. Not seldom, persons with intellectual disabilities are mixed up with persons having psychiatric problems and are unnecessarily given sedatives against their will. They are in some cases deprived of their liberty and treated as if they were dangerous. Many are cut off from the outside world. All disabilities carry a stigma, and many people with disabilities have been abandoned by their families through shame and lack of alternatives.

There are certainly many other problems to address as well in the spirit of the UN Convention. For the concrete discussion on implementation and monitoring this present guide will be of paramount importance for both authorities and civil society groups. I recommend it for thorough study.

Thomas Hammarberg Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights March 2011



Chapter 1. Overview of the Guidelines

This chapter provides a roadmap to the guidelines. It then describes the purpose, including the intended readership, as well as the scope and methods of the guidelines.



Chapter 1 contains a roadmap to assist the reader in using the guidelines. It also sets out the purpose of the guidelines, their scope, and the methods MDAC employed in developing them.

Chapter 2 presents an overview of the content of Article 33. It lays out some of the reasons Article 33 was included in the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD), and how the provision came about during the Convention negotiations. **Chapter 3** examines States Parties' obligations to ensure meaningful participation of civil society, in particular persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, in implementing and in monitoring implementation of the Convention. MDAC also presents an analysis of Articles 3, 4(3), 29 and 33(3) of the CRPD in this chapter.

Chapter 4 examines States Parties' obligations under Article 33(1) to champion the Convention within government. Article 33(1) requires effective policy coordination, including through the designation of one or more focal points within government for matters relating to implementation of the CRPD and the establishment or designation of a coordination mechanism. Chapter 5 then examines States Parties' obligations under Article 33(2) to set up a framework of independent mechanisms to promote and protect the rights of persons with disabilities and to monitor implementation of the Convention.

Questions highlighted with this symbol are listed and explained throughout the text of the guidelines. Altogether, the questions comprise a Checklist, which is intended as a tool for representatives of civil society, including persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, States Parties, parliamentarians and people working for the Article 33 focal points, coordination mechanisms, frameworks and independent bodies, among others, to use in implementing and measuring implementation of Article 33 of the CRPD.

The Checklist is included in **Chapter 6**. A glossary of terminology and list of abbreviations are presented in **Chapter 7**. A list of further resources on Article 33 is included in **Chapter 8**.



1.2. Purpose of the Guidelines

Article 33 of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) embodies the Convention's architecture for change. The Article sets out governmental coordination, independent monitoring and public participation.

The purpose of these guidelines is to provide a practical tool to:

- a. Guide implementation of Article 33, and
- b. Monitor how Article 33 is being implemented.

MDAC has written the guidelines for the following individuals and groups, whom we have identified as key audiences:

1. People with disabilities, their representative organisations and other civil society organisations

Public participation lies at the heart of the CRPD and non-governmental organisations constitute the primary readership of these guidelines. Civil society has an essential role to play in implementing and monitoring implementation of the CRPD. Article 33(3) of the CRPD requires governments to ensure that representatives of civil society, in particular persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, are involved and participate fully in monitoring implementation of CRPD rights. The role of civil society is both a matter of good practice and a legal obligation, as discussed in detail in chapter 3 of these guidelines.

2. People working within government

The guidelines are intended for people working within government who have responsibility for planning or implementing any aspect of the CRPD, disability policy or other policy area that affects the lives of persons with disabilities. This includes people who:

- Work in an Article 33(1) focal point within government that has been designated by the State Party for matters relating to implementation of the CRPD;
- Work in a coordination mechanism within government to facilitate action across and throughout government in order to ensure full and effective implementation of the CRPD;
- Have responsibility for setting up the framework of independent mechanisms set out in Article 33(2), which has a mandate is to promote and protect the rights of people with disabilities and monitor implementation of the CRPD;
- Are employed by the government as consultants for matters relating to CRPD implementation or monitoring.

3. People working in bodies independent from government to protect and promote the rights of people with disabilities, and to monitor the implementation of the CRPD

These guidelines are also intended for people working within the framework and independent mechanisms set out in Article 33(2) of the CRPD with the mandate to promote and protect the rights of persons with disabilities and monitor implementation of the CRPD. As discussed in chapter 5 of these guidelines, such independent mechanisms may include ombudsman offices, national human rights institutions, national human rights commissions, equality bodies and specialist disability agencies.



4. Parliamentarians

Members of Parliament play a key role in securing and monitoring human rights. The CRPD requires States to "adopt all appropriate legislative, administrative and other measures", and to "take all appropriate measures, including legislation, to modify or abolish existing laws, regulations, customs and practices that constitute discrimination against persons with disabilities". Furthermore, "parliament, through its oversight function, plays a key role in ensuring respect for the human rights of persons with disabilities". This includes actions such as scrutiny on parliamentary committees, conducting commissions of inquiry, questioning ministers, and scrutiny of executive appointments, state budgets and spending.

5. UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and other international and regional bodies

The guidelines are intended to assist the CRPD monitoring body – the Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities – in developing its guidance on Article 33 which it can provide to States in its concluding observations as a part of the State Reporting procedure (see Articles 34-36 of the CRPD) and by issuing a General Comment on Article 33, should the Committee choose to do so. Focused attention by the Committee on Article 33 will have impact beyond ensuring implementation of a single provision. Effective coordination of policies and an active monitoring mechanism that includes the input of civil society, as required by Article 33, will ensure the necessary conditions are in place on the domestic level for full and effective implementation of the full range rights set out in the CRPD. In addition to use by the Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, the guidelines are also intended for use by other treaty bodies with a mandate covering people with disabilities: that is, all treaty bodies. The UN Human Rights Council and the UN Special Rapporteurs on Disability, Torture, Health and Education, as well as bodies within regional organisations including the European Union, the Council of Europe, and regional bodies in Africa and the Americas are also encouraged to use refer to these guidelines in their work.

For full disclosure Gábor Gombos, who has been involved in this project from its conception as MDAC's Senior Advocacy Officer, was elected in September 2010 to be a Member of the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, serving a two-year term starting 1 January 2011. The Committee has not influenced the development of these guidelines.

1.3. Scope

The Article 33 guidelines focus on the requirements for domestic level structures to implement the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) and to monitor implementation of the Convention. They do not seek to provide an overview of the Convention, nor an account of the international monitoring process involving the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities.

One cannot, of course, read Article 33 in isolation from the rest of the CRPD. The meaning of words contained in Article 33 can be understood only in the context of the Convention as a whole, including its purpose, which is to "to promote, protect

See Art. 4(1)(a) of the CRPD.

² See Art. 4(1)(b) of the CRPD.

See "From Exclusion to Equality: Realizing the rights of persons with disabilities. Handbook for Parliamentarians on the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and its Optional Protocol", United Nations, Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights and the Inter-Parliamentary Union, 2007, pp. 106-107.



and ensure the full and equal enjoyment of all human rights and fundamental freedoms by all persons with disabilities, and to promote respect for their inherent dignity".⁴

MDAC's mandate is to focus on the rights of people with intellectual disabilities and people with psycho-social (mental health) disabilities. As alluded to in Commissioner Hammarberg's Foreword, we have written these guidelines knowing that people with intellectual disabilities and people with psycho-social disabilities are often ignored by policymakers, their views unasked, their needs unaddressed and their rights unfulfilled. Article 33 of the CRPD, however, is intended to implement the Convention, and monitor its implementation, for <u>all</u> people with disabilities, and these guidelines are designed to apply broadly.

1.4. Methods

MDAC submitted a two-year project for funding in February 2009 for the development of guidance on Article 33 of the CRPD. At that time, we, like others, had identified Article 33 for its fantastic potential in implementing the Convention, yet recognised that even in those countries that had signed or ratified the Convention there was little discussion, let alone implementation, of the provision. Article 33 featured only dimly on the United Nations and European Union levels. MDAC had attended meetings on the CRPD at which representatives of States Parties had expressed a need for information on the actual elements of Article 33.

We too were curious to find out how focal points in governments could work. We were worried how national human rights institutions would cope with such a massive mandate in times of financial cutbacks, and wanted to develop some ideas about how they could manage their workload. We were keen to ensure that people with disabilities and other non-governmental organisations (NGOs) were involved in creating mechanisms and in monitoring implementation, in ways similar to how civil society had been instrumental in negotiating the Convention itself. Put simply, we wanted to create a document which would flesh out what Article 33 actually meant.

1.5. Funding

The United Kingdom's Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO) kindly agreed to fund the project, telling us in April 2009 that the two-year project which we had submitted could be on the reserve list for 2009-10. This meant that we might not get the funding at all, or that we might be guaranteed funding in 2010-11 but would have to complete the project in that same financial year. We opted for the guaranteed funding, signed a contract of 112,598.20 GBP, and started the project on 1 April 2010.

The limitation on the funding was from the outset a challenge: we had to implement in one year what we had set out to do in two years. Following the change of UK government in the May 2010 general elections and the austerity measures immediately implemented by the new government, the FCO asked us in June 2010 to submit an assessment of cuts to the project of 10%, 20% and 50% respectively, and froze spending until it had determined the level of cuts. In August 2010, the FCO informed MDAC that the project had been reduced to 100,800 GBP, a cut of 10.7%.

It was understood both by the FCO and MDAC, and the member of the expert advisory group who worked for the UK government (in the Department for Work and Pensions, not the FCO), that MDAC retains complete editorial and operational independence from the funder.

⁴ See Art. 1, CRPD.



1.6. Outreach and Experts

In developing the Article 33 Guidelines and Checklists, MDAC hired Kathryn Vandever as Policy and Advocacy Officer to manage the project. We analysed the publications listed in chapter 8 of the guidelines and reviewed emerging practice as States Parties began to implement Article 33 of the CRPD. MDAC consulted with people with disabilities, disabled people's organisations, disability rights experts, representatives of government, people working in national human rights institutions, public policy experts, parliamentarians and academics. MDAC established an expert advisory group to provide guidance to MDAC throughout the project. MDAC met with members of this group in London in May 2010 and in Budapest in January 2011.

During the Conference of States Parties to the CRPD at UN headquarters in New York on 2-3 September 2010, MDAC had the opportunity to gather input from the participants of the side session, "Ensuring Meaningful Participation of People with Intellectual Disabilities and Psycho-social Disabilities in Implementing Article 33 of the CRPD". MDAC hosted this side session in collaboration with the Office for Disability Issues of the UK government and the Independent Monitoring Committee for the Implementation of the CRPD from Austria. MDAC also had the opportunity to gather input from the participants of the "Work Forum on the Implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities", in Brussels on 18-19 November 2010; this was hosted by the Belgian Presidency of the Council of the European Union and the European Commission.

In March 2011, coordinators in five European countries conducted interviews and lead focus groups with key individuals from government administration and civil society who reviewed and provided feedback on the final draft version of the guidelines. These people/organisations are Gauthier de Beco (Belgium), Masa Anisic (Croatia), Global Initiative on Psychiatry (Lithuania), League of Human Rights (Czech Republic) and the Resource Centre for People with Mental Disability "Zelda" (Latvia).

A range of international and regional experts from disabled people's organisations, disability rights organisations, government, academia, national human rights institutions and other sectors of society also provided feedback on a draft version of the guidelines at that time. We have done our best to incorporate the advice received. The guidelines cannot, however, reflect the views of all of the people who shared with us their ideas, owing to the diversity of these views, as well as time and page number constraints.

The people listed here have not endorsed the guidelines, although we hope they will use the guidelines in their work. They have provided input into this project on a voluntary basis and in their own capacity, which may not represent the views of the institution for which they work. Our gratitude goes to the following people for their insight, enthusiasm and humour:

- Janina Arsenjeva, European Disability Forum
- Michael Bach, Executive Vice-President, Canadian Association for Community Living, Toronto, Canada and MDAC Board Member
- Peter Bartlett, Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust Professor of Mental Health Law, University of Nottingham, UK and MDAC Board Member
- Gauthier de Beco, Associate Researcher at the University of Louvain, Belgium
- Jerome Bickenbach, Professor, Department of Health Sciences and Health Policy, University of Lucerne and SPF, Nottwil, Switzerland, Swiss Paraplegic Research (SPF), Nottwil, Switzerland
- Felicity Callard, Senior Research Fellow, Service User Research Enterprise, Institute of Psychiatry, King's College London and MDAC Board Member
- Colin Harper, Manager, Disability Action's Centre on Human Rights for People with Disabilities, Northern Ireland, UK



- Judith Klein, Director, Open Society Mental Health Initiative, Open Society Foundations
- Camille Latimier, Human Rights Officer, Inclusion Europe, Prague, Czech Republic
- Anna Lawson, Senior Lecturer in Law, University of Leeds, UK and MDAC Board Member
- Rachel Murray, Professor of Law, University of Bristol, UK
- Mary Nettle, Self employed as a Mental Health User Consultant, Former Chair, European Network of (ex-)
 Users and Survivors of Psychiatry
- Matthew Pringle, Programme Officer for Europe and Central Asia, Association for the Prevention of Torture, Geneva, Switzerland
- Gerard Quinn, Professor of Law and Director of the Centre for Disability Law and Policy, Faculty of Law, National University of Ireland, Galway, Republic of Ireland
- Debra Shulkes, European Network of (ex-) Users and Survivors of Psychiatry
- Marianne Schulze, Chairperson, Independent Monitoring Committee for the Implementation of the CRPD from Austria
- Michael Stein, Executive Director, Harvard Law School Project on Disability and Cabell Professor of Law, William & Mary Law School
- Rachel Stevens, Director, Empower All, Ireland
- Lisa Waddington, European Disability Forum Chair in European Disability Law, Maastricht University
- James Wolfe, Senior Civil Servant, Department of Work and Pensions, UK
- Kutsal Yesilkagit, Associate Professor of Public Administration, School of Governance, Ultrecht University, the Netherlands

The project was coordinated and the guidelines edited by Kathryn Vandever. Various parts of these guidelines were written by Kathryn as well as Gábor Gombos and Oliver Lewis. It was proof-read by Felicity Callard. Gauthier de Beco contributed to chapter 5. We thank Thomas Hammarberg for his inspiring Foreword, and his leadership on human rights throughout Europe.



Chapter 2. The CRPD and Article 33

2.1. The Convention

The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) is an international human rights treaty and development tool. It was adopted by the UN General Assembly in 2006 and entered into force in December 2008. Although the rights set out in international human rights treaties that predate the CRPD extend to persons with disabilities, prior to the adoption of the CRPD persons with disabilities remained largely invisible within the international system of human rights promotion and protection.⁵

The preamble to the CRPD states that the Convention seeks to present an "international Convention to promote and protect the rights and dignity of persons with disabilities".6 It brings together civil and political rights with economic, social and cultural rights within one instrument. An unprecedented level of participation of civil society, including persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, participated in the Convention's negotiations. The civil society grouping became known as the International Disability Caucus, whose slogan was, "Nothing about us without us".

The CRPD codifies in international law several conceptual shifts towards disability. This includes the social model of disability that recognises disability as the result of the interaction between a person with impairments and various barriers (including attitudinal, environmental and legal) that hinder a person's full and effective participation in society on an equal basis with others. The CRPD also sets out a human rights approach to disability that recognises people with disabilities not as objects

of other people's treatment, management, care, pity, charity or fear; but as subjects – of human rights, and on an equal basis with others. Much has been written about the CRPD, and these guidelines seek neither to repeat nor summarise these texts, which are provided as resources in chapter 8 of these guidelines.

⁵ See G. Quinn and T. Degener, "Human Rights and Disability: The current use and future potential of United Nations human rights instruments in the context of disability", Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (New York and Geneva: United Nations, 2002), available at: http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/HRDisabilityen.pdf.

⁶ CRPD, Preamble para. (y).



2.2. Overview of Article 33

Article 33 of the CRPD says the following:

Article 33 - National Implementation and Monitoring:

- States Parties, in accordance with their system of organization, shall designate one or more focal points within government for matters relating to the implementation of the present Convention, and shall give due consideration to the establishment or designation of a coordination mechanism within government to facilitate related action in different sectors and at different levels.
- 2. States Parties shall, in accordance with their legal and administrative systems, maintain, strengthen, designate or establish within a State Party, a framework, including one or more independent mechanisms, as appropriate, to promote, protect and monitor implementation of the present Convention. When designating or establishing such a mechanism, States Parties shall take into account the principles relating to the status and functioning of national institutions for protection and promotion of human rights.
- 3. Civil society, in particular persons with disabilities and their representative organizations, shall be involved and participate fully in the monitoring process.

Article 33 addresses the gap between – on the one hand – international human rights standards that exist on paper, which States promise to respect, protect and fulfil, and – on the other hand – the impact of those rights on the lives of people on the domestic level across the globe. This is known as the implementation gap. Factors that contribute to the implementation gap include:

- 1. A low level of awareness about international human rights standards among people whose rights are affected, their communities and governments.
- 2. A human rights rhetoric spoken by diplomats and United Nations officials in Geneva and New York that remains far-removed from the lives of the individuals whose rights international treaties seek to guarantee.
- 3. A lack of independent mechanisms at the domestic level to monitor implementation of human rights standards, to hold States to account for their human rights obligations, and to create a scandal when human rights violations occur.
- 4. Policies and programmes that are developed and implemented by individual ministries and departments, without coordination and communication across government.
- 5. The failure to effectively seek the contributions of civil society in the development and implementation of policies and programmes, and the exclusion of civil society within policy discourse in general.

Some of the additional barriers that persons with disabilities have to face in seeking to realise their human rights are:

- 1. The clash between the legacy values of human rights (universalism, substantive equality, non-discrimination) and the legacy values of how non-disabled people have treated people with disabilities ("best interests", social protection, formulaic equality).
- 2. The lack of recognition of disability as a human rights issue at the international human rights level, prior to the CRPD.



- 3. Disability laws which exclude some people with disabilities (such as those with psycho-social disabilities or mental illnesses), and fail to address the full spectrum of human rights.
- 4. The invisibility, stigma and discrimination of persons with disabilities throughout societies, including within the political sphere.
- 5. The low level of awareness of disability, people with disabilities and the rights of people with disabilities, within all levels of society, including families, service providers, governments, national human rights institutions and human rights organisations.
- 6. The failure of mainstream politics and policies to take into account the needs and the rights of people with disabilities.

These are long lists and they pose serious challenges in relation to the implementation of the CRPD. Article 33 is the Convention's best attempt to address many of these hurdles, because it sets out roles for domestic level mechanisms to ensure implementation and monitoring of the CRPD.

What does Article 33(1) say?

Article 33(1) encourages States Parties to pursue <u>holistic</u> disability policies in place of governance within distinct ministries or departments. It requires States Parties to designate at least one focal point in government for matters relating to implementation of the Convention and to ensure effective coordination across and throughout sectors and levels of government.

It requires States Parties to give due consideration to the establishment or designation of a coordination mechanism where additional coordination is necessary, which could take the form of a standing committee, annual meeting of cabinet or webbased mechanism. It would be difficult to be a focal point that does not do any coordination, and so we can safely assume that there has to be some formal coordination that happens across government.

Further guidance about implementation of Article 33(1) is provided in chapter 4 of these guidelines.

What does Article 33(2) say?

Article 33(2) requires States Parties to establish or designate a framework within government that includes one or more independent mechanisms to promote and protect the rights of persons with disabilities and monitor implementation of the CRPD. The framework must include at least one robust, adequately-skilled body, which is fully independent from government and meets the requirements of the Paris Principles, a UN General Assembly guidance document for national human rights institutions.⁷

Further guidance about implementation of Article 33(2) is provided in chapter 5 of these guidelines.

What does Article 33(3) say?

Article 33(3) requires States Parties to ensure that civil society, in particular persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, is involved and participates fully in monitoring CRPD implementation. Participation of civil society lies at the centre of the CRPD, which recognises participation as a general principle in Article 3 that runs throughout the Convention, and as a general obligation in Article 4(3). People with disabilities and their representative organisations were a key part

Principles relating to the Status of National Institutions (The Paris Principles), GA Resolution 48/134, 20 December 1993, available at: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/law/parisprinciples.htm.



of negotiating and drafting the Convention, and the resultant text seeks to ensure that a high level of participation is maintained at the domestic level as the Convention is implemented.

Further guidance about implementation of Article 33(3) is provided in chapter 3 of these guidelines.

2.3. Origins of Article 33

This section draws on the official records of the negotiations of the Convention (the *traveaux préparatoires*) in order to understand how the final text of Article 33 was reached.

During its 2nd meeting in June 2003, the Ad Hoc Committee on a Comprehensive and Integral International Convention on Protection and Promotion of the Rights and Dignity of Persons with Disabilities – the body tasked to negotiate what eventually became the CRPD – decided to establish a working group to prepare and present a draft text of a Convention that could provide a basis for negotiations by UN Member States. The working group was mandated to take into account all the previous contributions submitted to the Ad Hoc Committee by States, observers, UN bodies, entities and agencies, regional commissions, other intergovernmental organisations, representatives of civil society, including non-governmental organisations, national disability and human rights institutions and independent experts.

Many of these contributions highlighted the need for the resultant treaty to include mechanisms with responsibility to promote and monitor implementation of the Convention. Most contributions addressed international and national mechanisms together. Owing to limitations in time, it seems that the working group did not consider international monitoring or discuss the draft text in detail. The deliberations took place in a small group, in which an agreement was reached on the following language:

- 1. States Parties shall designate a focal point within Government for matters relating to the implementation of the present Convention, and give due consideration to the establishment or designation of a coordination mechanism to facilitate related action in different sectors and at different levels.
- 2. States Parties shall, in accordance with their legal and administrative system, maintain, strengthen, designate or establish at the national level a framework to promote, protect and monitor implementation of the rights recognised in the present Convention.

There was no agreement on the role of national human rights institutions (NHRIs). However, various States proposed that NHRIs perform the following functions:

- Promoting awareness of the provisions of the Convention;
- Monitoring national legislation, policies and programmes to ensure consistency with the Convention;
- Undertaking or facilitating research on the impact of the Convention or of national legislation;
- Developing a system for assessing that impact on persons with disabilities;
- Hearing complaints about failure to observe the Convention.⁸

Lacking a consensus, the working group encouraged the negotiating parties to consider additional proposals in relation to implementation and monitoring mechanisms, including submissions from non-governmental organisations.

⁸ Report of the Working Group, footnote 114, available at: www.un.org/esa/socdev/enable/rights/ahcwgreporta25.htm.



The focus of the 4th and 6th meetings of the Ad Hoc Committee was on the domestic monitoring mechanism(s).9 There was broad agreement amongst negotiating States that such mechanisms should be independent and should operate in a participatory manner where persons with disabilities are involved. Nevertheless, during the 4th session of the Ad Hoc Committee in August 2004, Canada expressed a concern that was shared by a number of the negotiators, stating "[t] he monitoring approach is a negative one, based on a non-compliance model. Given the importance of progressive implementation Canada wants to see the facilitation of progress, beyond simply monitoring, and that would require a more positive approach to monitoring at the national level. A Canadian national-level reporting framework, including indicators for measuring outcomes of disability policy and legislation, has been developed in cooperation with NGOs [non-governmental organisations]".10

Throughout the negotiations several approaches were proposed to realise such facilitation of progress, including the following:

- Focal point(s) within the government: to facilitate coordination across different ministerial departments as well as local, regional or federal authorities as applicable; to ensure or coordinate the collection of data and statistics as required for effective policy programming and evaluation of implementation; to cooperate with civil society and organisations representing persons with disabilities as well as national institutions; to cooperate with the international monitoring mechanism particularly in connection with periodic reporting, follow-up and implementation of recommendations emanating from the international mechanism; to undertake or coordinate government activities in the area of awareness-raising, educating the general public, training and capacity-building.¹¹
- Action plans for the full, effective and equal enjoyment of the human rights of persons with disabilities, developed in consultation with persons with disabilities and their representative organisations.¹²
- Baseline national reports and national action plans. 13

Negotiating States at that time felt that in addition to having a domestic monitoring framework, there needed to be supplementary mechanisms to facilitate coordinated implementation. Although there was no consensus on the more prescriptive language, other than the text which became Article 33(1), an understanding of the content and scope of the obligations under this paragraph can be strengthened by considering the proposals on the negotiating table.

With concern to Article 33(2), there was broad support for the establishment of effective and independent domestic monitoring from the very beginning of the negotiation process. However, consensus was not reached on the following:

• The role of NHRIs in the promotion, protection and monitoring, although a quasi-direct reference was made to the Paris Principles;

⁹ Summaries of the 4th and 6th Ad Hoc Committee sessions, 23 August – 3 September 2004 and 1-12 August 2005, available at: http://www.un.org/disabilities/default.asp?id=1423.

¹⁰ Daily Summaries of CRPD negotiations, August 23, 2004, available at: http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/enable/rights/ahc-4sumart25 htm

¹¹ See Amnesty International, "Strengthening implementation at the national level", available at: http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/enable/rights/documents/ahc6amnestyda25.doc.

¹² International Disability Caucus: "Draft Article 25 International and National Monitoring and other Aspects of Implementation, 8 August 2005, available at: http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/enable/rights/documents/ahc6idcda25.doc.

National Human Rights Institutions: Draft Text on Monitoring, 10 August 2005, available at: http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/enable/rights/documents/ahc6nhrida25.doc.



- The detailed functions of the monitoring framework;
- The relationship between the international and national level monitoring.

The Chair of the Ad Hoc Committee submitted a Discussion text for the 7th Session in January 2006, in which he proposed that the monitoring framework have the following functions:

- Regularly examine the situation of persons with disability with a view to promoting and protecting their human rights;
- Make recommendations to the relevant authorities with the aim of enhancing the enjoyment of persons with disabilities of their rights under this Convention;
- Submit proposals and observations concerning existing or draft legislation;
- Submit proposals and observations concerning existing or draft policies and programmes.¹⁴

These proposals built upon earlier contributions submitted to the Ad Hoc Committee, and also went beyond them. Although no consensus was reached on a prescriptive approach to the functions of the independent framework, the list above can be used as guidance in understanding the obligations under what became Article 33(2). The final text of Article 33 was reached during the last session in August 2006 in informal consultations which took place in corridors and behind closed doors, and there is no formal record of these discussions.

Discussion Text proposed by the Chair on Monitoring, 7th session, 16 Jan – 3 Feb 2006, available at: http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/enable/rights/ahc7discussmonit.htm.



Chapter 3. Civil Society Participation – Article 33(3)

Previous sections have provided an overview of Article 33, the problems of implementation it seeks to address, and the history of how the text was developed. This chapter examines the notion of civil society participation, examining the requirements of Article 33(3) and placing it within the wider context of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD).

3.1. Participation as the Lifeblood of the Convention

Meaningful participation of civil society, in particular of persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, lies at the heart of the CRPD. Indeed, participation in society is seen as the goal of the CRPD, the preamble noting that "persons with disabilities continue to face barriers in their participation as equal members of society and violations of their human rights in all parts of the world",15 and that a promotion of human rights and participation "will result in their enhanced sense of belonging and in significant advances in the human, social and economic development of society and the eradication of poverty".16 The treaty recognises participation as: a general principle that runs throughout the Convention, a general obligation that States Parties need to ensure in interpreting and implementing CRPD rights, and a set of rights to and within political life,

public life, cultural life, recreation, leisure and sport.¹⁷ Article 33(3) of the CRPD places an additional obligation on States Parties to ensure that civil society, in particular persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, are involved and participate fully throughout the processes of monitoring implementation of the CRPD.¹⁸

This chapter of the guidelines seeks to strengthen the understanding of governments on how they can "closely consult with and actively involve" persons with disabilities and their representative organisations in matters relating to implementation of the CRPD, including monitoring. The chapter seeks to strengthen civil society's understanding of their rights to participation and their ability to hold States Parties to account for their corresponding obligations. It further seeks to assist the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities to monitor implementation of Article 33, including the extent to which governments are ensuring civil society involvement.

¹⁵ CRPD, Preamble para. (k).

¹⁶ CRPD, Preamble para. (m).

¹⁷ CRPD, Articles 3, 4(3), 29, 30 and 33(3).

¹⁸ CRPD, Art. 33(3).



3.1.1. Participation as Principle

Article 3 of the CRPD sets out the general principles of the Convention. These include the principle of "full and effective participation and inclusion in society". The principles set out in Article 3 can be thought of as the CRPD's value system, or a lens through which all of the rights and obligations in the CRPD need be interpreted, internalised and implemented. ²⁰

3.1.2. Participation as General Obligation

Article 4(3) of the CRPD sets out:

In the development and implementation of legislation and policies to implement the present Convention, and in other decision-making processes concerning issues relating to persons with disabilities, States Parties shall closely consult with and actively involve persons with disabilities, including children with disabilities through their representative organizations.

This provision therefore requires States Parties to closely consult with and actively involve persons with disabilities through their representative organisations throughout the policy cycle, including in agenda-setting, planning and implementing the policies, and programmes and services that affect the lives of persons with disabilities. This provision is supported by a statement of fact listed in the preamble to the Convention, "that persons with disabilities should have the opportunity to be actively involved in decision-making processes about policies and programmes, including those directly concerning them".²¹ Article 33(3) completes the policy cycle by ensuring that civil society is involved in monitoring the implementation of the Convention. Figure 1, below, sets out this policy cycle.

AGENDASETTING PLANNING

MONITORINGEVALUATING IMPLEMENTING

Figure 1: Policy Cycle

⁹ CRPD, Art. 3

The full text of Article 3 of the CRPD reads: The principles of the present Convention shall be: (a) Respect for inherent dignity, individual autonomy including freedom to make one's own choices, and independence of persons; (b) Non-discrimination; (c) Full and effective participation and inclusion in society; (d) Respect for difference and acceptance of persons with disabilities as part of human diversity and humanity; (e) Equality of opportunity; (f) Accessibility; (g) Equality between men and women; (h) Respect for the evolving capacities of children with disabilities to preserve their identities.

²¹ CRPD, Preamble para. (o).



3.1.3. Participation in Monitoring

Article 33(3) of the CRPD sets out:

Civil Society, in particular persons with disabilities and their representative organizations, shall be involved and participate fully in the monitoring process.

Article 33(3) requires that civil society "shall" (a word which means "must", and leaves no doubt as to the level of obligation) be "involved and participate fully in the monitoring process". States Parties must ensure full participation, a much stronger obligation than mere consultation. Article 33(3) allows people with disabilities, separately from disability organisations, to participate. An independent monitoring mechanism established under Article 33(2) could, for example, hire an expert with a disability who is not a member of an organisation that represents persons with disabilities (such as a disabled people's organisation).

Article 33(3) will be touched on in chapter 5, alongside an examination of Article 33(2), the provision which sets out States Parties' obligations to maintain, strengthen, designate or establish a framework to promote, protect and monitor implementation of the CRPD.

3.1.4. Right to Participate in Political and Public Life

Article 29 of the CRPD speaks directly to involvement of people with disabilities in civil society to "effectively and fully participate in the conduct of public affairs without discrimination and on an equal basis with others, and encourage their participation in public affairs".²² It sets out the right to vote and stand for election on an equal basis with others. And beyond that, it ensures that people have opportunities to be part of political parties and non-governmental organisations:

Article 29 - Participation in political and public life

States Parties shall guarantee to persons with disabilities political rights and the opportunity to enjoy them on an equal basis with others, and shall undertake:

- a. To ensure that persons with disabilities can effectively and fully participate in political and public life on an equal basis with others, directly or through freely chosen representatives, including the right and opportunity for persons with disabilities to vote and be elected, inter alia, by:
 - Ensuring that voting procedures, facilities and materials are appropriate, accessible and easy to understand and use;
 - ii. Protecting the right of persons with disabilities to vote by secret ballot in elections and public referendums without intimidation, and to stand for elections, to effectively hold office and perform all public functions at all levels of government, facilitating the use of assistive and new technologies where appropriate;
 - iii. Guaranteeing the free expression of the will of persons with disabilities as electors and to this end, where necessary, at their request, allowing assistance in voting by a person of their own choice.

²² CRPD, Art. 29(b).



- b. To promote actively an environment in which persons with disabilities can effectively and fully participate in the conduct of public affairs, without discrimination and on an equal basis with others, and encourage their participation in public affairs, including:
 - Participation in non-governmental organizations and associations concerned with the public and political life of the country, and in the activities and administration of political parties;
 - ii. Forming and joining organizations of persons with disabilities to represent persons with disabilities at international, national, regional and local levels.

Article 29 is directly linked to Articles 33(3) and 4(3), as it establishes the emblematic right for adults to vote, a prerequisite to citizenship. The right to vote, and to participate in public life, is currently in many countries denied to people with disabilities who are deprived or restricted of legal capacity. This is an area that requires urgent legal reform; it is addressed in Article 12 of the CRPD. States must ensure that people denied the right to vote are not denied the opportunity to participate in CRPD implementation and monitoring.

3.2. How to Ensure Meaningful Participation

Article 29, read together with Articles 4(3) and 33(3) of the CRPD, can be interpreted as requiring States Parties to be proactive in ensuring that persons with disabilities and their representative organisations are provided with the capability and opportunity to participate in civil and political life on an equal basis with others.

Policies and programmes that are designed through the participation of individuals and groups they seek to serve are more likely to:

- 1. Reflect real needs;
- 2. Result in effective implementation;
- 3. Have ownership by the community.

Although there has been significant progress in recent years in involving civil society in a number of policy areas – such as the environment, transport, local education, and healthcare – people with disabilities are consistently excluded from having a voice in the development and implementation of the policies and programmes that affect their lives. Where consultation does occur, it is frequently with medical professionals and service providers in place of persons with disabilities, whose views are regularly dismissed as irrelevant, irrational or incompetent.

Promoting participation of people with disabilities throughout the policy cycle sends a powerful message to the wider society about what it means for all people to be "born free and equal in dignity and rights". People with disabilities experience stigma and social exclusion, along with other environmental and societal barriers that put them at risk of experiencing violations of their human rights.

Governments can challenge the exclusionary effects of the stigma, discrimination and invalidation which people with disabilities experience by:

²³ Universal Declaration of Human Rights, Art. 1.



- 1. Recognising that persons with disabilities are experts in relation to their own lives;
- 2. Responding to their interests when initiating reform, and;
- 3. Proactively seeking their counsel when defining an agenda for reform.

Meaningful participation requires structure, and cannot be fully realised through ad hoc methods. Participation requires governments to ensure transparency in implementing the Convention. It requires that information is made available to people in formats that are accessible to them. It requires processes are in place to involve persons with disabilities and their representative organisations in determining who participates, when they participate, and how they participate. It requires that mechanisms of participation are made available in accessible and multiple formats, and that reasonable accommodation is made available where it is necessary. Frequently, it also requires capacity building and financial resources. These are now explored in more detail.

Meaningful participation requires that the terms of representation are agreed upon through an open and transparent process that involves persons with disabilities and their representative organisations. A process needs to be in place to address two crucial issues:

- 1. **Ensuring adequate representation.** Which people and organisations should participate on behalf of civil society in matters relating to implementation of the CRPD?
- 2. Ensuring a good process. At what points will participation take place throughout the development, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of matters relating to implementation of the Convention? What methods and mechanisms will be developed to ensure that the participation is meaningful?

3.2.1. Ensuring Adequate Representation

The participation of civil society in matters relating to implementation of the CRPD needs to represent a full range of disability sectors, as well as other representatives of civil society, including NGOs and academia, that seek to promote, protect or monitor implementation of the Convention. Civil society is wide and encompasses a broad range of actors.

The CRPD in Articles 4(3) and 33(3) of the CRPD is clear that persons with disabilities and their representative organisations must be given an opportunity to be included in policy development and monitoring. They can provide valuable advice on human rights violations and ways of implementing the CRPD. People with disabilities are not a homogeneous group, and nor are their representative organisations. Government needs to understand the differences so that it can include diverse organisations holding different opinions. Choosing which people with disabilities and which organisations should be involved in monitoring is difficult, and the choice can have an impact on organisations as much as it can have an impact on the monitoring.

The International Disability Alliance (the global grouping of disability umbrella groups) suggests that the term "representative organisations" refers to organisations that "can legitimately claim to represent a given constituency of persons with disabilities, preferably those with a membership structure that directly governs the organization or elects the governing body of the organization, and if such a body does not exist, another organization whose credibility with the constituency is demonstrated in a public consultation, and that maintains a mechanism for accountability to that constituency".²⁴ The Alliance suggests

International Disability Alliance, "Contribution to the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights' the-matic study to enhance awareness on the structure and role of national mechanisms for the implementation and monitoring of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities", Geneva, September 2009.



that implementing the CRPD will result in strengthening national umbrella coalitions/federations comprising organisations representing particular constituencies of persons with disabilities. It also points out that priority in consultation should lie with organisations of persons with disabilities that are most representative of various constituencies by having a good presence throughout the country.

National umbrella organisations play a central role, but they should not be the only organisations to be included in monitoring. In many countries at present there are few disabled people's organisations, no organisations of people with psycho-social disabilities (mental health service user organisations), and no self-advocacy groups of people with intellectual disabilities. Many disability groups have limited visibility within society and in the disability sector itself due to stigma, the exclusion of these groups from domestic disability laws, as well as the deprivation of legal capacity, which results in a denial of freedom of association. States need to recognise this and reach out to traditionally marginalised disability groups in ensuring civil society participation.

States Parties need to ensure that they do not set the bar too high for participation on the monitoring mechanisms. While the national human rights institutions may have many employees who are lawyers and sociologists with master's degrees in disability studies, people with disabilities may have been excluded from educational opportunities. Participation should be open to those with practical experience of human rights on the ground, and those with experience advocating for people's rights.

Family and carer organisations and organisations for people with psycho-social and intellectual disabilities are important stakeholders and can play an important role in representing the views of families and carers. None of these people can ever replace the voices of people with disabilities. Parents' organisations and self-advocacy organisations should be encouraged to work together to provide a representative voice for people with intellectual disabilities.

Processes also need to be in place to evaluate whether an organisation genuinely and legitimately represents the persons with disabilities in whose name they claim to speak. Sometimes, service providers, including professional medical, nursing and social care staff, claim to be advocating for their patients/clients, and although they may do this in good faith, it is a practice to be avoided.

The rights of children with disabilities are of concern to many people, and it is parents' organisations which often speak for children with disabilities. The CRPD encourages us all to meet children with disabilities and seek their views directly. Article 7(3) of the CRPD sets out that:

States Parties shall ensure that children with disabilities have the right to express their views freely on all matters affecting them, their views being given due weight in accordance with their age and maturity, on an equal basis with other children, and to be provided with disability and age-appropriate assistance to realize that right.

Further, Article 3(h) of the CRPD calls for the States to have "[r]espect for the evolving capacities of children with disabilities and respect for the right of children with disabilities to preserve their identities." It is important for this to be taken into account when inviting children to participate in the monitoring functions.

3.2.2. Ensuing a Good Process

Early and continuous involvement

Persons with disabilities should be involved at the stage of planning to ensure that the methods of participation are substantial and meaningful. It is not effective to consult with people after a decision has been made – this is not participation, but



asking for authorisation. Situations and contexts often change, and so in a policy process, States Parties need to review who is being consulted, and actively involve emerging legitimate organisations.

Accessibility

Meaningful participation requires that States Parties ensure that information about matters relating to the CRPD is made available and accessible to civil society, including persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, in the formats they need. This includes information about the location, structure and mandate of the Article 33 mechanisms, as well as information about how individuals and organisations can participate in monitoring processes prescribed in Articles 33(2) and 33(3) of the CRPD.

A simple internet search should, for example, provide this information. States Parties should be proactive in ensuring information is made available to civil society, which is likely to include maintaining a database of all relevant organisations, regularly disseminating information to these organisations, and asking them to inform their membership about the opportunities to participate.

Multiple Forms of Involvement

In order for participation to be meaningful, multiple formats for participation need to be available. If participation occurs only through meetings, people who are unable to travel to the meeting or who are not confident speaking in public places or before large groups may be excluded. There is a range of ways that participation can happen, including through face-to-face meetings, focus groups, telephone interviews and the internet.

Reasonable Accommodation

For participation to be as effective as possible, reasonable accommodation in events, activities and processes needs to be provided. Article 2 of the CRPD defines reasonable accommodation as:

necessary and appropriate modification and adjustments not imposing a disproportionate or undue burden, where needed in a particular case, to ensure to persons with disabilities the enjoyment or exercise on an equal basis with others of all human rights and fundamental freedoms.

Merely inviting people with disabilities to participate is often insufficient, as they may experience various barriers to participating, such as physical, communicational, attitudinal, or legal. Regular breaks in meetings, well-structured agendas, easy to understand and plain text communications and sign language interpretation are important examples of reasonable accommodations that may have particular relevance for persons with disabilities. States should ask people with disabilities what sorts of adjustments they may need to equalize their participation upwards such that it can take place on an equal basis with others.

Enable Capacity-Building

States Parties have duties under Article 29 of the CRPD to ensure that representative organisations of persons with disabilities (including disabled people's organisations) exist, and that such organisations are provided with the organisational capacity, knowledge and expertise to participate in civil society and political life on an equal basis with others. Organisational capacity, knowledge and expertise means:

- 1. Skills to participate in monitoring activities;
- 2. Skills to engage in policy formation and implementation;
- 3. The confidence and skills to participate in meetings and challenge exclusion;
- 4 Knowledge about human rights, including the CRPD;
- 5. Knowledge about how to exercise those rights;



- 6. Knowledge about who the key people are with respect to domestic implementation of the CRPD;
- 7. An understanding of the relevant policy issues and how policy is formed.

Capacity can be built in a number of different ways, including through seminars, conferences, books and online resources. These should be in formats accessible to the persons whose capacity is being strengthened. Capacity-building should be available to family and other types of organisations, as well as to persons with disabilities and their representative organisations.

All capacity-building activities require some level of funding, but they may not require a lot. If States have the responsibility to ensure effective participation of people with disabilities and their representative organisations, there is a strong case that they have the responsibility to finance the capacity-building that is a pre-requisite to participation.

State funding poses a real risk to an organisation's actual and/or perceived independence, as well as its advocacy effectiveness. For this reason, it is probably not a good idea for governmental agencies to carry out capacity-building activities for non-governmental organisations.

States Parties may also need to remove legal barriers, such as (as noted above) the deprivation or restriction of legal capacity that prevents some persons with disabilities from participating in public organisations and civic life.

States Parties should not assume that all organisations have the same capacity to participate in activities in relation to implementation of the CRPD, including the monitoring activities prescribed in Articles 33(2) and 33(3). Some organisations (such as newly-formed organisations or organisations representing disability groups that have historically been marginalised within society) may need additional forms of capacity-building to be able to participate meaningfully alongside representatives of other disability groups. This is often the situation for organisations of persons with psycho-social disabilities (users and survivors of psychiatry) and organisations of persons with intellectual disabilities (self-advocates). Both types of organisations have been excluded from social discourse in most countries.



Chapter 4. Championing the Convention within Government – Article 33(1)

Article 33(1) of the CRPD sets out the following:

States Parties, in accordance with their system of organization, shall designate one or more focal points within government for matters relating to the implementation of the present Convention, and shall give due consideration to the establishment or designation of a coordination mechanism within government to facilitate related action in different sectors and at different levels.

As noted in chapter 2, above, Article 33(1) seeks to ensure effective coordination across and throughout government for matters relating to implementation of the CRPD. It seeks to put a stop to the way in which laws, policies and programmes are developed and implemented by individual ministries and departments without coordination or communication. It seeks a joined-up approach to governance.

This chapter outlines the function of a focal point. It then addresses the number and location of the focal point(s) and the additional mechanism for coordination across government.

4.1. Function of the Focal Point(s)

Legislation, policies and programmes that affect the lives of persons with disabilities are often developed within individual ministries or departments, without ensuring coordination with other ministries or departments. This can result in gaps in policies and programmes for persons with disabilities, a lack of coordination in funding, and incompatible or even conflicting priorities across government. Article 33(1) seeks to ensure that this does not happen, and that, instead, disability policy is holistic.

In order to assist in Article 33(1) implementation, MDAC has developed the following list of functions of the focal point(s):

- 1. Serve as the CRPD contact point for government and civil society;
- 2. Spearhead the CRPD and its values across and throughout government;
- 3. Ensure coordination within government;
- 4. Secure civil society involvement;
- 5. Conduct a baseline analysis at the time of CRPD ratification;
- 6. Publish a national CRPD implementation plan;
- 7. Collate data and statistics;
- 8. Liaise with domestic and international human rights mechanisms.

Each of these functions is explained below.



4.1.1. Serve as the CRPD Contact Point

States Parties need to designate at least one focal point in government to serve as the central contact point for information relating to the CRPD. The focal point serves as the CRPD hub for:

- Governmental ministries and departments;
- Local and regional governments;
- Persons with disabilities and their representative organisations;
- Other representatives of civil society seeking to promote, protect or monitor implementation of the Convention;
- Bodies in the Article 33(2) monitoring mechanism, as well as other national human rights institutions and inspectorate bodies;
- International organisations and bodies such as:
 - The Conference of States Parties to the CRPD;
 - The UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities;
 - Other UN treaty bodies such as the Human Rights Committee and the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights;
 - UN Special Rapporteurs, including the post-holders on Disability, Torture, Right to Health, Right to Education;
 - Bodies within the European Union such as the EU Disability High Level Group, and various Directorates General;
 - Bodies within the Council of Europe such as the European Committee for the Prevention of Torture or Inhuman and Degrading Treatment or Punishment, and the Commissioner for Human Rights.

Information about where in government the focal point(s) is located and how to contact the focal point(s) needs to be made available. A simple internet search should arrive at the information easily. States Parties should also proactively communicate this information to the bodies listed above.

The focal point(s) will also likely be the contact point for any activities involving international cooperation under Article 32(1)b of the CRPD, which sets out the obligation on States Parties to ensure they are "[f]acilitating and supporting capacity-building, including through the exchange and sharing of information, experiences, training programmes and best practices".



Question 1: Has one or more focal point in government been formally designated by the State Party as the contact point for matters relating to implementation of the CRPD? Has a coordination mechanism been established to facilitate coordination across and throughout government? Has this been communicated to civil society?

4.1.2. Spearhead the CRPD and its Values throughout Government

The focal point(s) needs to spearhead the CRPD and its values across sectors and throughout levels of government. As explained in chapter 2 of these guidelines, the value system of the CRPD is rooted in the principles set out in Article 3 of the Convention. These principles include respect for the inherent dignity, individual autonomy and independence of persons;





non-discrimination; full and effective participation and inclusion in society; equality of opportunity; accessibility; gender equality; and acceptance of persons with disabilities as part of human diversity and humanity.²⁵

Activities to spearhead the CRPD and its values could include developing "awareness-raising programmes regarding persons with disabilities and the rights of persons with disabilities", 26 such as programmes designed for representatives of government and organisations responsible for service delivery. States Parties need to ensure that the focal point(s) has sufficient political leadership to drive a process of change, distribute and mobilise leadership throughout government, motivate colleagues, push ministerial boundaries, challenge the status quo, gather resources and garner support both within and outside government.

These activities are closely related to the activities necessary for implementation of Article 8 of the CRPD, which sets out States Parties' obligations for awareness-raising about persons with disabilities and the CRPD. They are also related to the activities that the Article 33(2) framework needs to carry out to promote CRPD rights (see chapter 5, below, for a discussion on the Article 33(2) framework), and there needs to be a discussion on the division of labour between the bodies about who does what. Ultimately, however, the focal point(s), as the State Party, bears the responsibility for carrying these activities out.



Question 2: What actions is the focal point(s) carrying out to raise awareness throughout society about the CRPD?

4.1.3. Ensure Coordination within Government

As noted in chapter 2 of these guidelines, disability policy is often developed in a specific ministry or department within the context of that ministry's/department's particular policy goals, and without further coordination across government. Article 33(1) of the CRPD seeks to move governments away from this approach and towards joined-up government, in order to implement the CRPD as effectively as possible.²⁷ In practice, this requires the focal point(s) to carry out the following:²⁸

- 1. Coordinate disability legislation, policies, programmes and services. This requires setting up effective channels for communication, and convening regular progress review meetings that bring together representatives from across government departments/ministries. It means ensuring that relevant ministries/departments share priorities, ideas and concerns, so that holistic legislation, policies and programmes can be adopted and services for people with disabilities can meet the needs of people with disabilities as effectively as possible. It may require civil servants working within the focal point(s) to travel across the country to domestic coordination meetings.
- 2. Mainstream disability issues across all governmental policies and programmes. Article 4(1)(c) of the CRPD requires States Parties "to take into account the protection and promotion of the human rights of persons with disabilities in all policies and programmes". The focal point should thereby ensure that all governmental ministries/departments take into account the rights of persons with disabilities in all policy and programmes (even non-disability

²⁵ CRPD, Art. 3.

²⁶ CRPD, Art. 8(2)(d).

²⁷ Article 4(1)(b) a of the CRPD sets out a general obligation on States Parties "To take all appropriate measures, including legislation, to modify or abolish existing laws, regulations, customs and practices that constitute discrimination against persons with disabilities".

²⁸ Adapted from J. Newman, "Joined-up government: the politics of partnership", chapter 6 of Modernising Governance: New Labour, policy and society (London: Sage, 2001).



policy and programmes). Coordinated action should not be restricted to disability polices and programmes but to all actions, for example, changing the tax system, allocating development aid spending, writing poverty reduction strategies, planning urban spaces, and so on.

- 3. **Facilitate information exchange.** The focal point should share promising practice across sectors and throughout levels of government in order to develop innovative approaches to CRPD implementation. This will involve bringing in various civil society organisations as well as the private sector, to share ideas and good practices, for example in ensuring that there are accessible support services available to people with disabilities,²⁹ or that staff working with people with disabilities are trained using the latest information.³⁰
- 4. **Ensure funding for the disability sector.** Securing adequate financial resources for the disability sector is a role which the focal point could play. This could be achieved, for example, by quantifying the needs of persons with disabilities, ensuring that ministries contribute to providing the funding, and developing partnerships which can deliver on providing appropriate services. Such partnerships could, depending on the local circumstances, involve State bodies, quasi-State agencies, private companies, and non-profit organisations. Similarly, the focal point could examine how it might be possible to reduce unnecessary costs that can result from overlapping policies and programmes.



Question 3: What is the State Party doing to ensure effective coordination across and throughout government for matters relating to implementation of the CRPD?

4.1.4. Ensure Civil Society Involvement

Chapter 3 of the guidelines, above, sets out why and how civil society, in particular persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, should be involved at all stages of the policy cycle. The focal point should be responsible for ensuring meaningful participation of persons with disabilities. People who work in the focal point – as the lead civil servant or group of civil servants – need to ensure that people with disabilities through their representative organisations are closely consulted and actively involved in the development and implementation of any law or policy which affects them.³¹

The focal point could play a vital role in securing funding for capacity-building activities for civil society to enable persons with disabilities, their representative organisations and other civil society actors to participate fully in all matters related to the CRPD. This may include training on the CRPD as well as on organisational development to strengthen the voice of civil society (for capacity-building of NGOs, see chapter 3, above).

The focal point needs to have the confidence of other civil servants to approach them in order to discuss the implications of the Convention on the polices and programmes for which they are responsible. These discussions should be as open and transparent as possible, but from time to time it may be necessary for internal government discussion to remain confidential to allow a (safe) space for policy debate.

²⁹ See CRPD, Art. 4(1)(e).

³⁰ See CRPD, Art. 4(1)(i).

³¹ See CRPD Art. 4(3), which requires that: "In the development and implementation of legislation and policies to implement the present Convention, and in other decision-making processes concerning issues relating to persons with disabilities, States Parties shall closely consult and actively involve persons with disabilities, including children with disabilities, through their representative organizations."





Question 4: How does the focal point closely consult with and actively involve persons with disabilities in matters relating to implementation of the CPRD?

4.1.5. Conduct a Baseline Analysis at the Time of CRPD Ratification

The focal points should ensure that a baseline analysis is developed at the time of ratification. This analysis should set out the extent to which domestic law, policy, and practice complies with the CRPD – from Article 1 to Article 33 – at the time of ratification.

A baseline analysis is not an explicit requirement of the CRPD. Such an initiative was formally proposed during the negotiation of the CRPD by the national human rights institutions, but a requirement for this was not included within the final text of the Convention.³² This notwithstanding, a baseline analysis is implied by the CRPD, particularly as States Parties will have difficulty complying with Convention obligations without going through this process.

According to Article 35(1) of the CRPD, States Parties need to submit to the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities "a comprehensive report on measures taken to give effect to its obligations under the present Convention and on the progress made in that regard, within two years after the entry into force of the present Convention for the State Party concerned". It will be impossible for a State Party to submit a report on <u>progress</u> made within the two years since ratifying the Convention if there is no baseline analysis. It is not adequate in Convention terms, therefore, for a State Party to rely on the Article 35(1) State report as the first analysis of its compliance with the Convention.

The case for a baseline analysis upon ratification is particularly compelling when considering how the State, civil society and the UN mechanisms will assess implementation of economic, social and cultural rights, which are intended to be realised progressively.³⁴ It will not be possible to determine whether progress has been made over two (or four) years if no data exist on what the situation was at the start of that period.

States Parties should ensure the baseline analysis is made available and accessible to civil society, in particular persons with disabilities and their representative organisations and any other individual or organisation participating in the monitoring process described in chapter 5 of the guidelines, below. They should also ensure that civil society is involved in drafting it.



Question 5: Was a baseline analysis conducted at the time of CRPD ratification? Was it developed with the involvement of civil society, including persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, and was it made available to them?

4.1.6. Publish a National CRPD Implementation Plan

The focal point needs to ensure that a national disability action plan is developed following ratification of the Convention. The national CRPD implementation plan should: set out the government's priorities in implementing the CRPD, contain SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant and Time-Bound) objectives to measure progress, and indicate which areas of government are responsible for delivering each action the plan sets out. The CRPD implementation plan also needs

³² National Human Rights Institutions: Draft Text on Monitoring, 10 August 2005.

³³ CRPD, Art. 35(1).

³⁴ CRPD, Art. 4(2).



to indicate the measures by which civil society, including persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, will participate in implementing the plan. As discussed above in chapter 3 of the guidelines, Article 4(3) of the CRPD requires civil society participation in the implementation of the CRPD. The implementation plan itself should be produced in partnership with representatives of civil society.

Such a plan should cover every aspect of what the government does and should not be limited to disability-specific policies and programmes. The national CRPD implementation plan should be properly resourced and monitored. It would be advisable for States Parties to develop a two-year plan immediately following ratification, so that the timeline corresponds with the deadline for State reporting to the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, two years following ratification.³⁵



Question 6: Has an implementation plan for the CRPD been developed? Was it developed with the involvement of civil society, including persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, and was it made available to them?

4.1.7. Collate Data and Statistics

Article 31 of the CRPD places an obligation on States Parties to "collect appropriate information, including statistical and research data, to enable them to formulate and implement policies to give effect to the [CRPD]".³⁶ Article 31 also requires that the data are disaggregated to assess implementation of the Convention and identify and address the specific barriers faced by persons with disabilities.³⁷

Data include both statistical information and qualitative information about the lived experiences of persons with disabilities. A combination of both types of data is critical to the formulation of evidence-based legislation, plans and policies, as well as for their implementation and evaluation. Data are also necessary to measure progress against the national CRPD implementation plan (see Focal Point Function 6, above).

States Parties need to ensure that the data are disseminated and made available to the public, including to the Article 33(2) monitoring mechanism (see chapter 5 of the guidelines, below) and civil society, in particular persons with disabilities and their representative organisations and any other individual or organisation participating in monitoring as required by Article 33(3) (see chapter 3 of the guidelines, above).

Article 31 needs to be read in conjunction with Article 33, and in particular with Article 33(2). As explained below, in chapter 5 of the guidelines, Article 33(2) requires States Parties to set up a framework that includes independent mechanisms and has a mandate that includes monitoring implementation of the CRPD. The mechanisms within the Article 33(2) framework, which are intended for the monitoring of CRPD implementation, need to satisfy basic research methodology criteria for creating an evidence base for monitoring.

If one draws from the experiences of national level monitoring in other rights-based contexts, such as that of the Millennium Development Goals and the UN International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), it is clear that the basic components that comprise an evidence base for monitoring are:

³⁵ CRPD, Art. 35.

³⁶ CRPD, Art. 31(1).

³⁷ CRPD, Art. 31(2).



- National targets. A concrete description of the scope of a CRPD right and the necessary qualitative and quantitative parameters for its full and effective implementation. National targets specify details about the precise social commitment that the right creates.
- **Indicators.** The statistical variables that identify measureable change over time, in particular from an established baseline (described above). Indicators often follow automatically from the wording of a target.
- Data. Article 31 mandates the capture of valid and reliable data relevant to the indicator that has been selected to put into operation the right in terms of national targets. In this regard, it should be noted that Article 31 of the CRPD requires States to collect data that enable them to formulate and implement CRPD-consistent policies, and that this data must be "disaggregated" for disability. For example, this means that data on employment rates under Article 27 must use "disability", gender", or "age" as a demographic or statistically independent variable so that a comparison can be made between overall employment rates and rates for persons with disabilities.

The focal point(s), in order to successfully collate data and statistics, should consider providing funding for research and reports, including reports which can be used for a baseline report (see Focal Point Function 5, above) and State reports under Article 35 of the CRPD (see Focal Point Function 6, above).



Question 7: How is the State Party collecting appropriate information, including statistical and research data? How has this information been made available and accessible to representatives of government and civil society, in particular persons with disabilities and their representative organisations?

4.1.8. Liaise with Domestic and International Human Rights Mechanisms

The focal point should carry out any domestic reporting that is required and engage in substantive discussions with bodies established to monitor the State Party's progress in implementing the Convention. These activities may include: preparing reports for national or regional parliaments on the implementation of the CRPD,³⁸ reporting on or giving evidence to parliamentary committees concerned with aspects of CRPD implementation, reporting to the independent mechanism established under Article 33(2) (see chapter 5 of the guidelines, below), and/or publishing a publicly-available annual report. The nature and regularity of domestic reporting will, of course, differ across jurisdictions.

A formal procedure should be put in place to ensure coordination of timely submissions of State Reports to the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in accordance with Article 35. As noted above, States need to submit such a report within two years of entry into force. With the exception of the first twenty States which ratified, this generally means two years after the date of ratification by a State, unless there was subsequent domestic legislation which brought the Convention into force.

State Parties must submit a comprehensive report on measures taken to implement the Convention and progress made. Following the submission of an initial comprehensive report, States Parties must submit reports at least every four years and upon request of the Committee.³⁹ The overall focal point will need to take action to ensure State reports to the Committee

³⁸ This includes, for the European Union, reports to the European Parliament.

³⁹ CRPD, Art. 35(2).



are written, as the Convention suggests, in a manner that demonstrates "an open and transparent process", 40 and that involves people with disabilities. 41

States also have an obligation under Article 36(4) to "make their reports widely available in their own countries", which means that the State report needs to be made public, in accessible formats and in all national languages, and disseminated to relevant stakeholders including civil society, including persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, and any other non-State actors, NGOs or individuals seeking to promote, protect or monitor implementation of the Convention. The provision further specifies that States need to "facilitate access to the suggestions and general recommendations relating to these reports", which are written by the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. This means that States must make available the Committee's findings, which may be critical of the government. The government nevertheless has a duty to make the concluding recommendations widely available, and this means translating them (from an official UN language) into the national languages of the relevant State.

It should be noted that the focal point needs to be aware of the work of the UN charter bodies⁴² and treaty bodies.⁴³ Their General Comments, State-specific concluding observations, and case-specific findings on individual communications may be relevant for people with disabilities.

The focal point may need to travel across the country in order to carry out research for such domestic reporting. Funding needs to be secured to allow focal point staff to travel internationally, including to the annual Conference of States Parties to the CRPD at the UN headquarters in New York.

The focal point's responsibility for coordinating reporting should also include responsibility for ensuring that governmental ministries/departments receive the resultant reports from the domestic or international mechanisms, and that recommendations contained in such reports are considered appropriately and acted upon. This includes acting on recommendations by the 33(2) framework (see chapter 5 of the guidelines, below). The focal point should ensure that recommendations contained in the concluding observations of the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities are acted upon so that further recourse to the United Nations level becomes unnecessary.

Focal point(s) in EU Member States have additional responsibilities. The EU acceded to the CRPD in December 2010. A code of conduct sets out internal arrangements for implementation by and representation of the EU in relation to the CRPD.⁴⁴ This includes provision for the European Commission "to convene, on its own initiative or at the request of a

⁴⁰ CRPD, Art, 35(4).

CRPD, Art. 35(4) sets out a recommendation to States "to give due consideration" in developing the State reports to the provision set out in Article 4(3), which provides for the State obligation to "closely consult with and actively involve persons with disabilities, including children with disabilities, through their representative organizations". More on civil society participation can be found in chapter 3 of these guidelines.

⁴² Such UN charter bodies include the Human Rights Council (of note are its Universal Periodic Review procedure and its Special Procedures).

⁴³ Such UN treaty bodies include the Human Rights Committee (CCPR), Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD), Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), Committee against Torture (CAT) & Optional Protocol to the Convention against Torture (OPCAT) – Subcommittee on Prevention of Torture (SPT), Committee on the Rights of the Child (CRC), Committee on Migrant Workers (CMW), and the Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD). More details are available at: http://www.ohchr.org.

[&]quot;Code of Conduct between the Council, the Member States and the Commission setting out internal arrangements for the implementation by and representation of the European Union relating to the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities" (2010/C 340/08).



Member State's focal point, a coordination meeting with the focal points of the Member States".⁴⁵ A focal point within an EU Member State must be prepared to send information to the European Commission on preparing the EU report, and must send the Commission its State report in advance on a confidential basis.⁴⁶ In addition, the civil servant responsible for the focal point will need to travel quarterly to Brussels to participate in the EU Disability High Level Group and other European Union meetings and conferences.

- Question 8: How does the focal point(s) maintain an effective dialogue with the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and other international treaty monitoring bodies?
- Question 9: What is the focal point doing to ensure that persons with disabilities and their representative organisations are participating in the CRPD Committee reporting process?

4.2. Form of the Focal Point(s)

The previous section of this chapter examined the functions of the focal point(s); this section looks at its form (structure). Similarly, we advise States to ensure that form (structure) follows function in their thinking about Article 33(1): the ultimate test of Article 33(1) implementation is not location, but rather effectiveness.

States Parties need to designate at least one focal point in government for matters relating to implementation of the Convention either prior to or immediately following ratification, in order to ensure that government activity is joined up for matters relating to implementation of the CRPD and that the functions listed above can be realised,. The CRPD allows States Parties flexibility in deciding the number and placement of the focal point(s), requiring they do so "in accordance with their system of organization".⁴⁷ As discussed below, Article 33(1) also requires States Parties to consider setting up an additional mechanism in government for coordination across and throughout sectors and levels, as necessary.

4.2.1. Number of Focal Points(s)

In accordance with Article 33(1) of the CRPD, States Parties are required to designate at least **one focal point** in government for matters related to implementation of the CRPD. The designation of one such focal point may be the decision of a State Party with a centralised system of organisation, where disability competency lies largely within one department or ministry. In such a situation a State Party could designate a senior civil servant as its focal point.

Alternatively, States Parties may designate **more than one focal point** horizontally across departments/ministries on the national level and vertically throughout regional and sub-regional levels of government. Most, if not all sectors and levels of government have a role in ensuring the full and effective implementation of the CRPD. The "Thematic study by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the structure and role of national mechanisms for implementation and monitoring of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities" has recommended States Parties "appoint focal points at the level of each or most governmental departments/ministries".⁴⁸ If more than one focal

⁴⁵ Code of Conduct, *ibid*, para. 11(d).

⁴⁶ Code of Conduct, ibid, para. 12(d).

⁴⁷ CRPD, Art. 33(1).

⁴⁸ OHCHR, Thematic study on the structure and role of national mechanisms for the implementation and monitoring of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, 22 December 2009, A/HRC/13/29, para 24.



point is designated, a **lead focal point** with responsibility for oversight and coordination of the other focal points should be designated to ensure coordination.

4.2.2. Essential Elements of a Focal Point(s)

States Parties should seek to ensure that wherever the focal point is located, there is adequate staffing; that the staff has disability rights competence, embraces the social model of disability, and, in the case of the lead focal point, authority to coordinate policy across and throughout government; and that the focal points have the resources to carry out the functions listed in section 4.1 of these guidelines.

The essential elements of a focal point are:

- 1. Adequate number of staff (all focal points). There needs to be sufficient quantity of staff dedicated to carrying out all of the necessary functions as listed in section 4.1 of these guidelines.
- 2. **Disability rights competence (all focal points)**. Members of staff working in the focal points need to have a thorough understanding of:
 - CRPD principles, States Parties obligations, rights and mechanisms
 - A rights-based approach to disability
 - A social model of disability, which recognises disability as the result of an interaction between a person with impairments and barriers in society
 - The linkages between human rights and various disabilities (including mental health, an area which is frequently left out of disability rights discourse).

There are now various online courses, summer schools, journal articles and books through which staff can strengthen their understanding of the CRPD and the obligations on governments to implement the Convention. Training should be carried out by persons with disabilities and their representative organisations.

- 3. Authority to coordinate policy across government (lead focal point). In order to coordinate implementation actions, the lead focal point must have the authority to ensure action is taken horizontally and vertically.
 - At the central governmental level, the focal point needs to liaise with ministries and departments responsible
 for developing policies and introducing laws relating to (for example) children, education, employment,
 healthcare, housing, transportation, recreation and sport, enterprise, social welfare, foreign affairs, justice,
 labour and finance, among many other policy areas.
 - At regional and local levels of government, implementation of the CRPD requires the involvement of government representatives responsible for the organisation, provision, and allocation of resources for services, including for education, employment, healthcare, housing, transportation, recreation and sport and enterprise, among other policy areas.
 - At both central and local government level, the focal point needs the authority to convene meetings with, obtain information from, and instruct colleagues to take action. If the focal point lacks such authority if, for example, the civil servant responsible for the focal point is not senior enough to summon colleagues from other ministries to attend meetings, or if the lead focal point does not have the mandate to demand other ministries to contribute to the State Party's report then the government should formally designate a "coordination mechanism", and this designation should be done in writing and the information should be publicly available.
- 4. Adequate funding (all focal points). The focal point(s) must have adequate funding to carry out the functions listed in section 4.1 of these guidelines. The adequacy of funding will depend on context and needs to be assessed locally.



States Parties should designate the focal point within a ministry which has both the capacity to live and embody the values of the CRPD, and the authority to coordinate action across government. There may be a tension between capacity and authority, and as so much depends on context, MDAC cannot provide hard guidance. States Parties should consider designating the lead focal point at a high level in government, such as in the prime minister's office or cabinet office. Another option is to establish an office for persons with disabilities within the office of the president, office of the prime minister or cabinet office. Another option is to establish a minister for disability, to be accompanied by administrative department or office. There may be a trade-off between authority and competence, but the ultimate test is whether the focal point is able to do its job properly and whether it has the support of civil society organisations in doing so.

- Question 10: Where in government has the lead focal point been designated? Where have any additional focal points been designated?
- Question 11: Does the lead focal point have the authority to coordinate action to implement the CRPD at national, regional and local levels?
- Question 12: How many people (full-time equivalent) have been designated to work in focal point(s)? To what extent is this number adequate?
- Question 13: What capacity building is provided to people who are working within the focal point(s) to ensure they have a comprehensive understanding of the CRPD and its value system, and domestic disability laws and policies? Has training for the focal point staff been carried out by people with disabilities?
- Question 14: What financial resources have been allocated to the focal point(s) for implementation of the CRPD? Is the focal point(s) able to carry out its mandate with this funding?

4.2.3. Existing Focal Point

Some governments have an existing focal point(s) for disability issues, some of which resulted from the implementation of the UN Standard Rules on the Equalization of Opportunities for Persons with Disabilities (hereinafter "Standard Rules").⁵⁰ The Standard Rules comprise a non-binding UN General Assembly Resolution, which was adopted by all UN Members in

⁴⁹ See G. Beco and A. Hoefmans, The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: an Integral and Integrated Approach to the Implementation of Disability Rights – Background Document, study commissioned by the Belgian Federal Public Service Social Security (2011).

⁵⁰ Standard Rules on Equalization of Opportunities for Persons with Disabilities, UN General Assembly, forty-eighth session, resolution 48/96, annex, of 20 December 1993, A/RES/48/96:

Rule 17 - Coordination of work

States are responsible for the establishment and strengthening of national coordinating committees similar bodies, to serve as a national focal point on disability matters.

[·] The national coordinating committee or similar bodies should be permanent and based on legal as well as appropriate administrative regulation.

A combination of representatives of private and public organizations is most likely to achieve an intersectoral and multidisciplinary composition. Representatives could be drawn from concerned government ministries, organizations of persons with disabilities and non-governmental organizations.

[·] Organizations of persons with disabilities should have considerable influence in the national coordinating committee in order to ensure proper feedback of their concerns.

[•] The national coordinating committee should be provided with sufficient autonomy and resources to fulfil its responsibilities in relation to its decision-making capacities. It should report to the highest governmental level.



1993 at the conclusion of the "Decade of Disabled Persons". Unlike the CRPD, the Standard Rules are not legally binding on States, but they do represent a shared political commitment by States to work toward the equalisation of opportunities for persons with disabilities through implementation of 22 rules set out in four chapters: preconditions for equal participation, target areas for equal participation, implementation and monitoring mechanism. The Standard Rules also established the post of a UN Special Rapporteur on Disability, who is responsible for monitoring their implementation.⁵¹

As noted, the CRPD is a binding instrument in international law. If a State Party designates an existing disability focal point (including any focal points designated in accordance with implementation of the Standard Rules) for matters relating to implementation of the CRPD, the State Party will need to ensure the focal point has the additional knowledge, capacity and resources to carry out its mandate. States Parties will need to:

- 1. Revise the mandate of the focal point to reflect its responsibilities under Article 33(1) of the CRPD;
- 2. Ensure additional financial resources are available, as necessary, for the focal point to implement any additional activities;
- 3. Increase human capacity and providing training for staff on CRPD provisions.

4.2.4. A Coordination Mechanism Outside the Focal Point(s)

As well as designating "one or more focal points within government for matters relating to implementation" of the Convention, Article 33(1) requires States Parties to, "give due consideration to the establishment or designation of a coordination mechanism to facilitate related action in different sectors and at different levels".⁵² While States Parties are required only to give "due consideration" to setting up a coordination mechanism, MDAC takes the view that it would be difficult for the focal point to carry out the appropriate functions without a coordination mechanism. States Parties need to decide whether to attribute responsibility for coordination to a focal point (a lead focal point, where more than one focal point is designated) or formally establish or designate a coordination mechanism that is distinct from the focal point(s).

The CRPD text offers no guidance regarding the meaning of a "coordination mechanism". Some suggestions are:

- Monthly committee meetings of senior civil servants from across relevant ministries/departments;
- A governmental working party to analyse each bill or policy recommendation;
- An annual meeting of cabinet to discuss progress and challenges to CRPD implementation;
- A web-based interface for ministries/departments to upload progress to the focal point.

In some States Parties, a coordination mechanism outside the focal point(s) may be better placed to oil the government machine. This is particularly relevant in States where the focal point lacks authority or resources to effectively coordinate across and throughout government. A coordination mechanism outside the focal point could be convened by, for example, the prime minister's office, which would have the authority and resources to convene the relevant ministries to solicit the required information and order actions to be taken.

If there is a separate mechanism, the government should ensure that civil society, including persons with disabilities and their representative organisations and any other non-State actors, NGOs or individuals seeking to promote, protect or monitor implementation of the Convention are involved in the coordination mechanism.

⁵¹ See the UN Enable website for further information on the Standard Rules: http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/enable/dissre00.htm. ⁵² CRPD, Art. 33(1).



In States where there is more than one focal point, States Parties may want to assign the coordination function to the lead focal point rather than establish or designate a separate mechanism for coordination. In order to be effective, the lead focal point will need to be adequately resourced and have significant public policy authority. Where a State Party has designated a single focal point for matters relating to implementation of the CRPD, that focal point would logically assume responsibility for coordination.

The single focal point (where there is only one focal point), the lead focal point (where there are multiple focal points dotted around government) or the coordination mechanism (where one is established or designated) needs to be able to carry out the full range of functions (see section 4.1, above).



Chapter 5. Independent Watchdogs - Article 33(2)

Article 33(2) sets out the following provision:

and promotion of human rights.

States Parties shall, in accordance with their legal and administrative systems, maintain, strengthen, designate or establish within a State Party, a framework, including one or more independent mechanisms, as appropriate, to promote, protect and monitor implementation of the present Convention.

When designating or establishing such a mechanism, States

Parties shall give due consideration to the principles relating to the status and functioning of national institutions for protection

This provision provides for the strengthening, maintaining, designation or establishment of a framework which:

- Consists of at least one independent mechanism;
- Has responsibility to promote, protect and monitor implementation of the CRPD; and
- Complies with the principles relating to the status and functioning of national institutions for protection and promotion of human rights (the "Paris Principles").



5.1. An Interpretation Puzzle

Before examining the background, functions and characteristics of the Article 33(2) bodies, an interpretative problem needs to be resolved that arises from use of the term "including". There is an ambiguity in Article 33(2) with regard to the mechanisms that are included in the framework. If this provision is to be read literally, the framework could be understood to allow for mechanisms that fully comply with the Paris Principles (and therefore are independent and pluralistic) as well as mechanisms that do not fully comply with the Paris Principles (such as those with close links to government). According to this interpretation, the Article 33(2) mechanism could comprise nine government-run bodies and one independent body.

MDAC does not accept this interpretation, however, and firmly believes that all of the mechanisms that are strengthened, maintained, designated or established to promote, protect and monitor implementation of the Convention ought fully to comply with the Paris Principles. It is essential particularly for bodies that are seeking to protect CRPD rights and monitor implementation of CRPD rights that they remain independent from government: these bodies need to remain impartial,

⁵³ On this interpretative problem, see de Beco, G., 'Article 33 (2) of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Another Role for National Human Rights Institutions?', (2011) 29 (1) Netherlands Quarterly of Human Rights.

⁵⁴ See the discussion below in this section of the Guidelines about the Paris Principles, which set out obligations for independence and pluralism.



remain free from undue interference and maintain credibility with the public. It should also be noted that the official translations of the CRPD vary. The Spanish version of the CRPD uses the term "made up of" ("que constará de"), which adds some ambiguity. Although there is a need for the framework to bring into its discussions bodies outside of the framework, including those that do not comply with the Paris Principles, MDAC recommends that the Article 33(2) framework be composed solely of bodies which are fully independent.

5.2. Overview of Article 33(2)

As set out above in chapter 2 of the guidelines, Article 33 of the CRPD seeks to address the implementation gap between international human rights law and the realisation by people with disabilities of their rights in practice. Historically, the monitoring of international human rights treaties has been conducted by international bodies which can seem far removed from reality. The CRPD is the first international human rights treaty to place an obligation on States Parties to focus on domestic mechanisms for monitoring, and it does this through the inclusion of Article 33(2).⁵⁵ The provision does not seek to replace international monitoring, however, but rather to complement the work of the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities – whose mandate and functioning are set out in Articles 34, 35, 36 and 37 of the CRPD and in the Optional Protocol.

States Parties are required to submit State reports two years after the CRPD enters into force and thereafter every four years, ⁵⁶ which the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities reviews during its sessions. ⁵⁷ The Committee monitors the measures taken and progress made by States Parties in realising the rights set out in the CRPD. In addition to this, the Optional Protocol to the CRPD provides an individual complaints procedure and an inquiry procedure.

Article 33(2) seeks to facilitate implementation of the Convention by requiring States Parties to designate domestic bodies with responsibility to foster an environment in which people with disabilities are able to realise their rights as set out in the Convention. The rationale behind this is that domestic bodies are closer to the ground, have greater expertise about what is happening and greater opportunity for follow-up than an international monitoring body. While the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities has an important role, domestic bodies are much better placed to work within a country in order to secure long-term impact.

Article 33(2) requires each State Party, upon ratification, to adapt its internal structures by doing one of four things with respect to a framework of one or more independent mechanisms to promote, protect and monitor implementation of the Convention. A State must:

maintain, or

A State will maintain a framework in the event that there is already a framework which carries out exactly the function which Article 33(2) requires. This may seem unlikely, but a State Party may have designated such a framework on signing the Convention, so there would be no need to do anything differently upon ratification.

strengthen, or

A State will strengthen a framework if there is an existing framework which, perhaps, does not have a sufficiently wide mandate nor enough resources to carry out the Article 33(2) functions.

Note should be made of the Optional Protocol to the UN Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, which requires States to create "national preventive mechanisms" to visit places of detention. National preventive mechanisms do not have a mandate to monitor the UN Convention against Torture (or the Optional Protocol) as a whole. In contrast, the independent mechanisms within the framework created under Article 33(2) of the CRPD must focus on the entire CRPD.

⁵⁶ CRPD, Art. 35.

⁵⁷ CRPD, Art. 34.



designate, or

A State will designate a framework if the pieces already exist. For example there may be a national human rights institution and some NGOs which together carry out the various functions of the Article 33(2) framework. The State's role in this case is to officially declare or designate these bodies as the framework.

establish a framework. A State will establish a framework where most or all of the functions are not carried out by existing bodies, or where there are no such bodies.

As the State progressively realises the economic, social and cultural rights in the Convention, there is an ongoing obligation on a State to **maintain** the framework by continually resourcing it, and to ensure it continues to exist whatever political, financial or other considerations there may be. The State must also continually strengthen the framework and the mechanisms within the framework, so that it improves over time: the framework should be stronger next year than this year.

The ratification of the Convention is the beginning of a process. By requiring States Parties to equip themselves with domestic bodies especially concerned with disability rights, the CRPD helps government to embrace a rights-based approach to disability issues, and it empowers persons with disabilities and their representative organisations to claim their rights under the Convention.

States Parties do not have to wait to ratify the CRPD to set up their Article 33(2) framework. If a State Party identifies the framework and one or more independent mechanisms that will have responsibility for Article 33(2) before ratifying the CRPD, those mechanisms can seek to encourage ratification without reservations or interpretive declarations and advise the government on how to adjust its laws and policies in order to meet the standards provided for by the Convention.

The Article 33(2) framework and the independent mechanisms that are included within it have a collective mandate to "promote, protect and monitor implementation" of the CRPD. States Parties may designate distinct responsibilities to the various mechanisms within the framework, as long as the full mandate is covered by the framework.

In order to discourage government from threatening or altering the existence of NHRIs, the Paris Principles require that NHRIs be established "by a constitutional or legislative text". 58 Independent mechanisms under Article 33(2) of the CRPD need to be provided for in law. Questions to ask may include the following:

- Is there a law establishing the Article 33(2) mechanisms? The law should be in accessible formats and able to be found easily by domestic civil society organisations.
- How has this law been communicated to the international community? Where possible, States parties should attach information on the establishment or designation of the independent mechanisms to their ratification instrument. This means that they should reflect on who will be the article 33 (2) bodies as soon as they sign the CRPD.
- Is the composition, mandate, working methods and budget each stipulated in law?

In order to help facilitate at a minimum the identity of the independent mechanisms comprising the framework in each State Party, MDAC recommends that the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities develops an internet-based register of frameworks, with contact information and hyperlinks to these frameworks and mechanisms.

⁵⁸ Principle 2, Competence and responsibilities, Paris Principles, Principles relating to the Status of National Institutions (The Paris Principles), GA Resolution 48/134, 20 December 1993, available at: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/law/parisprinciples.htm.





Question 15: Has a framework of one or more independent mechanism(s) been established/designated in law by the State Party to promote, protect and monitor implementation of the CRPD?

5.3. Functions of the Framework

We now turn to the functions of the framework, which are to promote, protect and monitor. These three functions have distinctive features and include their own set of activities. The three functions, however, are complementary and even overlap to a certain extent, so that they cannot be considered as categories that can be separated from each other.

Two examples demonstrate the artificiality of separating out the functions.

- 1. The independent mechanisms within the framework may encourage States Parties to sign and ratify the Optional Protocol to the CRPD: this is a monitoring function. The mechanisms could thereafter distribute material on the complaints procedure under the Optional Protocol: this is promotion. The mechanisms might help persons with disabilities to introduce complaints before the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and ensure follow-up to the decisions of the Committee by the State Parties: this is protection.
- 2. The independent mechanisms within the framework may receive a high number of individual complaints on an alleged grave or systemic violation of CRPD: this is protection. They may then decide to carry out a general inquiry into these allegations: this is monitoring. Drawing on the inquiry's recommendations, they may then provide training and information to policymakers on how to prevent abuses in the future: this is promotion.

5.3.1. Promote

The promotion of human rights includes both general awareness-raising activities that seek to sensitise the public, policymakers and other stakeholders about human rights, as well as targeted activities designed to advance effective realisation of a right, set of rights or a human rights instrument for a general or specific audience.

Activities which the framework of independent mechanisms can carry out to **promote** CRPD rights include the following, non-exhaustive list:

- 1. Provide detailed analyses of the rights and obligations set out in the CRPD to policymakers;
- 2. Organise training on the CRPD for policymakers, including those working in the focal points;
- 3. Engage with governmental departments and help them to mainstream the rights of the persons with disabilities into their policies;
- 4. Provide information on the States Parties' reporting obligations and remind policymakers thereof;
- Organise training which provides disability-appropriate support on the CRPD for persons with disabilities on how to advance meaningful participation in policy-making, build capacity for self-advocacy and take action to protect their rights;
- 6. Ensure that education systems integrate disability into human rights education. This includes encouraging schools to disseminate the CRPD in formats and languages, including sign language, accessible to children with disabilities and encouraging law faculties and human rights institutes to include the rights of persons with disabilities in curricula, teaching and research;



- 7. Ensure training for lawyers and judges to apply the CRPD in order to create legal precedents or clarify or improve legislation;
- 8. Review and disseminate the jurisprudence (General Comments, statements and decisions) of the UN treaty bodies, including the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in particular; translate these into an understandable language for policymakers and people with disabilities; and encourage government to implement the recommendation or enforce the judgment, to avoid new recourse to UN treaty bodies;
- 9. Produce and distribute material on the complaints procedure under the Optional Protocol to the CRPD as well as the complaints procedures under other existing legal instruments; and
- 10. Organise campaigns and other awareness-raising activities about the CRPD in the media.

Promotional activities are essential for ensuring that the conceptual shifts set out in the CRPD, including the social model of disability and a human rights approach to disability, are understood and effectively internalised throughout society. Other bodies within government, in addition to civil society organisations, need to be involved in the promotional activities. Article 8 of the CRPD, for example, requires States Parties to undertake awareness-raising activities and distribute materials on the CRPD. In contrast to protecting and monitoring, promotional activities can be carried out by various actors, including governmental bodies, and need not be the exclusive role or responsibility of the independent mechanisms within the framework. In order to avoid duplication and ensure consistency in promotion, the framework needs to examine and coordinate the awareness-raising activities it is carrying out, ensure that the disseminated information is accurate and, where necessary, fill in any gaps.



Question 16: What activities are being carried out by mechanisms in the framework to promote the rights of persons with disabilities? How does the framework coordinate with other bodies (including government) that are carrying out promotional and awareness-raising activities?

5.3.2. Protect

The protection of human rights includes activities that aim to uphold human rights through quasi-judicial powers (such as the handling of individual complaints and mediation), activities to provide support to people so that they can claim their rights before domestic courts (such as legal aid and assistance), and the provision of in-depth expertise directly to domestic courts to assist in the proper administration of justice. In this way, protection activities involve assisting people to bring individual complaints before domestic, regional and international bodies or tribunals and encouraging government to remedy human rights problems or violations.

Activities which the framework of independent mechanisms can carry out to **protect** CRPD rights include the following, non-exhaustive list:

- 1. Ensure there is some form of (self-, peer- or lay-) advocacy in community settings and (where they exist) places of detention, such as prisons, psychiatric departments, children's homes and social care institutions;
- 2. Handle individual complaints on alleged violations of the CRPD reported by persons with disabilities and make recommendations to government to comply with the CRPD;
- 3. Provide mediation between policymakers and persons with disabilities on the application of the CRPD;
- 4. Provide assistance to persons with disabilities in domestic courts. This can be done directly by independent mechanisms, such as ombudsman's offices, or by providing financial assistance in cases of strategic importance to set legal precedents by, for instance, allocating funds for the provision of legal expertise or to support legal costs;
- 5. Lobby government to provide legal aid so that people with disabilities can bring alleged violations of the CRPD in domestic courts. Legal aid should be available to people often missed out in accessing justice: those who have



been deprived of legal capacity, children, people deprived of their liberty or in institutional settings, as well as next of kin of people with disabilities who have died;

- 6. Take legal action in the name of victims of alleged violations of the CRPD in domestic courts;
- 7. File amicus curiae (friend of the court) briefs or third-party interventions to provide domestic courts with in-depth expertise on the rights and obligations set out in the CRPD and assist courts in their proper administration of justice;
- 8. Help persons with disabilities to introduce complaints before regional and international bodies and tribunals, including the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities;
- 9. Act upon issues or individual cases which have been brought to light by domestic as well as regional or international inspection mechanisms. These include the bodies mentioned in Article 16(3) of the CRPD, National Preventive Mechanisms established under the Optional Protocol to the UN Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (OPCAT), the European Committee for the Prevention of Torture and Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (CPT), the Commissioner for Human Rights of the Council of Europe, the UN Subcommittee on Prevention of Torture and other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (SPT), UN Special Rapporteurs or Working Groups or any other inspection mechanism; and
- 10. Ensure follow-up to the decisions of the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities following individual complaints based on the Optional Protocol within the States Parties.

States Parties must provide the framework with formal authority so that the independent mechanisms can use their quasijudicial powers. The independent mechanisms must have the right to receive complaints from any individual and access to necessary information to evaluate the complaints it receives and make recommendations to government.

Responsibility for ensuring protection of CRPD rights, both by taking measures to prevent violations of the Convention and by establishing effective judicial systems to sanction such violations, rests with the State Party.



Question 17: What activities are being carried out by the mechanisms in the framework to protect the rights of persons with disabilities?

5.3.3. Monitor

Monitoring domestic implementation of an international human rights treaty is a way of assessing whether domestic legislation, policy and practice comply with the treaty. It is a way of determining the effectiveness of measures taken by a government in its attempt to implement a treaty. It is a way to hold government to account for its human rights obligations.

Monitoring includes gathering information on implementation (see Article 31 of the CRPD, and see section 4.1.7 of the guidelines, above), pushing for the cessation of human rights violations, and encouraging States Parties to cooperate with international monitoring mechanisms. Monitoring the implementation of the CRPD is an enormous task. Focused, strategic prioritisation is necessary.

Activities which the framework of independent mechanisms can carry out to **monitor** CRPD rights include the following, non-exhaustive list:



- 1. Develop a strategic monitoring plan. This includes establishing time-framed programmes and identifying key governmental departments responsible for the realisation of the rights set out in the Convention. The strategic monitoring plan might focus on themes (health, education, employment, etc.) or specific groups of persons with disabilities (women with disabilities, minority ethnic groups, rural people, etc.). This plan should take into consideration the government's CRPD implementation plan (see section 4.1 of these guidelines) but the strategic monitoring plan need not be bound by it.
- 2. Work with colleagues in different countries to establish a set of rights-based indicators and benchmarks to evaluate progressive realisation of the rights set out in CRPD. This should enable the framework to advocate at governmental level to identify areas where more efforts are needed and to point out discrimination between different categories of people with disabilities.
- 3. Evaluate the compliance of legislation and policies with the CRPD and/or make recommendations for their harmonisation with the CRPD.
- 4. Monitor practice through carrying out or commissioning research into the lived experience of persons with disabilities.
- 5. Monitor practice by carrying out field visits to where persons with disabilities live, including community-based services or institutions (see Article 16(3) of the CRPD); or ensuring a link with national inspectorate bodies, including National Preventive Mechanisms established under the Optional Protocol to the UN Convention against Torture.
- 6. Provide strategic direction to policymakers and parliamentarians.
- 7. Utilize the judicial system to document violations of the rights of persons with disabilities. Many persons with disabilities face barriers to filing complaints, including as a result of stigma and discrimination, a lack of information about their rights and how to exercise their rights, denial of legal capacity, and denial of reasonable accommodation.
- 8. Conduct formal investigations and general inquiries on issues of grave or systemic violations of CRPD and make recommendations to government on how these violations can be remedied and future violations prevented.
- 9. Encourage the government to involve persons with disabilities in the development of laws, policies and programmes (see Article 4(3) of the CRPD).
- 10. Remind the State party of its obligation to submit on time its State report as provided for by Article 35(2) of the CRPD, and to answer the questions of the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities.
- 11. Provide training and information to policymakers on the elaboration of the State report.
- 12. Create a space to allow NGOs to coordinate and elaborate a "shadow report" for the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, and ensure full coverage in the report by including all categories of persons with disabilities through their representative organisations.
- 13. Ensure follow-up to the concluding observations of the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities following the submission of the State report.
- 14. Encourage the government to enhance the protection of persons with disabilities by signing and ratifying the Optional Protocol to the CRPD. Also encourage similar action with respect to existing or future Optional Protocols to treaties.
- 15. In countries which have ratified the Optional Protocol to the CRPD, alert the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities on areas of "grave or systemic violations" and request the Committee to conduct an inquiry (under Article 6 of the Optional Protocol).
- 16. Provide relevant and timely information to the full range of UN treaty bodies, UN Special Rapporteurs and Working Groups, European Union bodies, Council of Europe bodies.
- 17. Participate in the Conference of States Parties (see Article 40 of the CRPD) and encourage the Conference, in collaboration with colleagues in different countries, to discuss implementation issues of regional relevance.



The purpose of monitoring CRPD implementation is to ensure that people benefit from the Convention. Independent mechanisms therefore need to be pluralistic and encourage persons with disabilities and their representative organisations to have a decisive voice in the monitoring process. This is also required by Article 33(3); more detail on these obligations is provided in chapter 3 of the guidelines, above.





5.4. Form of the Framework

Having looked at the three functions of the framework, this section addresses the different forms that the framework might adopt. We first look at the Paris Principles, as this document is referenced in Article 33(2). Then the section looks at composition and pluralism, civil society involvement, independence, and finally the legal basis of the independent framework.

5.4.1. Paris Principles

Article 33(2) requires States Parties to "take into account the principles relating to the status and functioning of national institutions for the protection and promotion of human rights". The origins of the Convention (see section 2.3, above) make clear that this wording is code for the "Paris Principles", which set out basic guidance for the establishment and strengthening of national human rights institutions (NHRIs). An NHRI is a body established by the State Party for implementation of international human rights treaties at the national level. While the specific mandate of NHRIs differs from country to country, their activities may include providing guidance on human rights issues, advising on legislation, conducting inquiries, disseminating materials, receiving individual complaints, launching investigations and intervening in court cases. Examples of NHRIs include human rights institutes and commissions or ombudsman bodies.

The Paris Principles were established by NHRIs at their first international workshop held in Paris and endorsed by both the (then) UN Commission on Human Rights and the UN General Assembly in 1993.⁵⁹ In addition to providing for the composition, competences and working methods of NHRIs, the Paris Principles require that NHRIs be independent from government, be representative of civil society, and have a broad mandate to promote and protect human rights. There is an international ranking system of NHRIs. Those that fully comply with the Paris Principles are granted A-status by the International Coordinating Committee of the NHRIs.⁶⁰ These institutions have voting rights within the ICC and have speaking rights at the UN Human Rights Council.

⁵⁹ Composition and guarantees of independence and pluralism, Principles relating to the Status of National Institutions (The Paris Principles), GA Resolution 48/134, 20 December 1993, http://www2.ohchr.org/english/law/parisprinciples.htm.

⁶⁰ See: http://nhri.net/default.asp?PID=85&DID=0.



5.4.2. Composition and Pluralism

Article 33(2) of the CRPD applies the Paris Principles, which sets out the requirements for domestic bodies that are established to promote and protect human rights generally, to a framework that includes one or more independent mechanisms with the mandate to promote, protect and monitor the rights of persons with disabilities. In doing so, the Paris Principles require adaptation in the context of the CRPD.⁶¹

The CRPD does not prescribe exactly who or what should comprise the Article 33(2) framework. The use of the terms "as appropriate" allows States Parties the flexibility to determine the number and the type of mechanisms necessary to include in the framework for it to meet its mandate, as long as the framework and the independent mechanisms comply with the Paris Principles. As discussed in further detail below, this means that each of the mechanisms must be independent from government and all of the mechanisms, together, must meet the requirements of pluralism. One of the mechanisms in the framework should be designated as a coordinator. This is important in order to coordinate work, call meetings, avoid duplication and ensure consistency in approach.

While an NHRI that meets the necessary requirements of independence may be included as one of the mechanisms within the framework, States Parties need to be aware that on its own (for example, in the case of a single mechanisms framework) it may not meet the necessary requirements of pluralism. MDAC recommends that States Parties maintain, strengthen, designate or establish other bodies, in addition to an NHRI, to ensure that the full spectrum of the mandate set out in Article 33 (2) is covered by the framework. The following are examples of some of the bodies that may be included in the framework:

- national human rights institutions (NHRIs) see below;
- ombudsman's offices;
- equality bodies;
- inspectorates (such as those established under the Optional Protocol to the UN Convention against Torture);
- disabled people's organisations (organisations comprising persons with disabilities). See section 5.4.3 below;
- disability rights organisations (organisations carrying out advocacy for persons with disabilities);
- disability organisations focusing on children's rights, women's rights or other groups that face multiple forms of discrimination;
- human rights organisations;
- trade unions;
- universities and research institutes.

With regard to the first type of body on this list, an NHRI, the Paris Principles require that its composition and the appointment of its members "shall be established in accordance with a procedure which affords all necessary guarantees to ensure the pluralist representation of the social forces (of civilian society) involved in the promotion and protection of human rights".⁶² According to the Paris Principles, these should include:

⁶¹ G. Beco and A. Hoefmans, UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: An integral and integrated approach to the implementation of disability. Background document prepared for the international conference "Work Forum for the Implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities" (Brussels: Federal Public Service Social Security, 2010).

⁶² Composition and guarantees of independence and pluralism, Principles relating to the Status of National Institutions (The Paris Principles), GA Resolution 48/134, 20 December 1993, available at: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/law/parisprinciples.htm, Principle 1.



- a. "Non-governmental organizations responsible for human rights and efforts to combat racial discrimination, trade unions, concerned social and professional organizations, for example, associations of lawyers, doctors, journalists and eminent scientists;
- b. Trends in philosophical or religious thought;
- c. Universities and qualified experts;
- d. Parliament;
- e. Government departments (if these are included, their representatives should participate in the deliberations only in an advisory capacity)."



Question 20: How is the composition of the Article 33(2) framework pluralistic? How has composition been decided?

5.4.3. Civil Society Involvement

States Parties need to closely consult and actively involve persons with disabilities through their representative organisations in setting up the framework and determining which independent mechanisms should be included in it. Organisations of and for persons with disabilities should also be involved with the regular evaluation of these mechanisms.

Readers are encouraged to turn back and read chapter 3 of the guidelines, which deal with Article 33(3) of the CRPD in detail. That provision ensures that civil society, in particular persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, participate throughout the monitoring process. Effective participation in monitoring requires multiplicity of forms of engagement and should, among others:

- Include persons with disabilities as commissioners or board members of the Article 33(2) body;
- Ensure that the monitoring function under Article 33(2) comprises an independent mechanism (such as an NHRI), as well as some named organisations of persons with disabilities, and broader civil society (organisations of persons of minority ethnic groups, women's organisations and so on);
- Involve such persons with disabilities in the evaluation of policies, programmes and laws;
- Investigate promptly any law or policy not developed in close consultation and active involvement of persons with disabilities, contrary to Article 4(3) of the CRPD;
- Ensure data are available to enable meaningful participation in monitoring; and
- Include people with disabilities as monitors to, for example, closed facilities under Article 16(3) of the CRPD.

5.4.4. Independence

As noted above, MDAC believes that the entire framework needs to be compliant with the Paris Principles. This means that each of the mechanisms in the framework should be independent. This does not preclude creating a space for discussions between civil society and government, for instance through the focal points. However, the framework needs to be driven solely by actors that are fully independent and pluralistic.

The independent mechanisms must be financially independent to avoid any threat to their functioning as a result of their action. According to the Paris Principles, an NHRI:



shall have an infrastructure which is suited to the smooth conduct of its activities, in particular adequate funding. The purpose of this funding should be to enable it to have its own staff and premises, in order to be independent of the Government and not be subject to financial control which might affect its independence.⁶³

Questions to ascertain independence may include the following. Some of these questions relate more to NHRIs, than, for example, to disability organisations, and we have indicated this as appropriate. This list is not exhaustive.

Relevant for all organisations of the mechanism, including NHRIs:

- Has each mechanism made public its governance structure, aims and objectives and sources
 of funding? This is an important step towards transparency. Mechanisms need to put in place systems to
 ensure that its donors do not assert undue influence on the mechanism's work.
- 2. Have the members of each mechanism declared conflicts of interest? In order to secure their impartiality and maintain the public's trust, the members of the independent mechanisms should inform the framework of any conflicting interests they may have as a result of other mandates. If so, they should make declarations of conflict of interest, which should be uploaded on this framework's website, and abstain from deciding on issues where they hold a conflict of interest.
- 3. Does each mechanism have resources to carry out its core functions? Such functions are detailed in section 5.3 of the guidelines. Without sufficient finance being given by government, the framework will not be able to carry out its functions, and by definition the Convention will not be properly implemented.
- 4. **Is each mechanism free from outside influence to set its own spending priorities and agenda?** The independent mechanisms within the framework should not be the subject of undue interference by government or State bodies or by other aspects of civil society including, for instance, disability service providers or the pharmaceutical industry.
- Can all of the mechanisms hire and fire staff without outside influence? The independent mechanisms should be able to employ their staff members and determine their own priorities without being subjected to governmental permission or oversight.
- 6. Does the budget of the framework include funding for civil society capacity-building? Resources are necessary to finance capacity-building so that persons with disabilities and their representative organisations an essential element of independence from government are able to participate fully in the monitoring process on an equal basis as others (see section 3.2.3 of the guidelines).

Of specific relevance for NHRIs:

- 7. Does parliament (not government) determine the budget of the NHRI within the framework?

 This is an important emblem of independence, as well as providing structural guarantees of independence.
- 8. Are the members of the NHRI appointed and dismissed according to a fair, objective and clear procedure? It is important to provide a guarantee that members can be elected or re-elected notwithstanding the fact that their views may conflict with those of government. The appointment of members should preferably be done by parliament and not government, with the active involvement of civil society organisations, who should be allowed to appoint some of them or, at least, to participate in the selection procedure.
- 9. **Is the NHRI's mandate durable through time?** The Paris Principles provide that "to ensure a stable mandate for the members of the national institution, without which there can be no real independence, their

⁶³ Composition and guarantees of independence and pluralism, *ibid.*, Principle 2.



appointment shall be effected by an official act which shall establish the specific duration of the mandate".⁶⁴ Long term mandates are preferable, because they allow members to address the root causes of problems relating to implementation of the CRPD and because they prevent these members from having their reappointment constantly in mind.

While independence is an essential requirement for all the independent mechanisms within the framework, it applies in a different way according to the functions of these mechanisms. Independence is not required to undertake activities in relation to promoting the CRPD. Promotional activities include awareness-raising activities which are recognised by the CRPD as a State obligation in Article 8 and can be carried out by a wide range of actors, some of which may not be independent in the sense of the Paris Principles. In contrast, independence is essential to protect and monitor implementation of the CRPD, since these functions may and often put governmental action into question.



Question 21: How have the mechanisms in the Article 33(2) framework demonstrated their independence?

⁶⁴ Composition and guarantees of independence and pluralism, *ibid.*, Principle 3.



Chapter 6. Checklist for Effective Implementation of Article 33 of the CRPD

Article 33(1) - establishment



Article 33(1) - functions

- Question 2: What actions is the focal point(s) carrying out to raise awareness throughout society about the CRPD?
- Question 3: What is the State Party doing to ensure effective coordination across and throughout government for matters relating to implementation of the CRPD?
- Question 4: How does the focal point closely consult with and actively involve persons with disabilities in matters relating to implementation of the CPRD?
- Question 5: Was a baseline analysis conducted at the time of CRPD ratification? Was it developed with the involvement of civil society including persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, and was it made available to them?
- Question 6: Has an implementation plan for the CRPD been developed? Was it developed with the involvement of civil society, including persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, and was it made available to them?
- Question 7: How is the State Party collecting appropriate information, including statistical and research data? How has this information been made available and accessible to representatives of government and civil society, in particular persons with disabilities and their representative organisations?
- Question 8: How does the focal point(s) maintain an effective dialogue with the UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and other international treaty monitoring bodies?
- Question 9: What is the focal point doing to ensure that persons with disabilities and their representative organisations are participating in the CRPD Committee reporting process?



Article 33(1) - form and structure

- Question 10: Where in government has the lead focal point been designated? Where have any additional focal points been designated?
- Question 11: Does the lead focal point have the authority to coordinate action to implement the CRPD at national, regional and local levels?
- Question 12: How many people (full-time equivalent) have been designated to work in focal point(s)? To what extent is this number adequate?
- Question 13: What capacity building is provided to people who are working within the focal point(s) to ensure they have a comprehensive understanding of the CRPD and its value system, and domestic disability laws and policies? Has training for the focal point staff been carried out by people with disabilities?
- Question 14: What financial resources have been allocated to the focal point(s) for implementation of the CRPD? Is the focal point(s) able to carry out its mandate with this funding?

Article 33(2) - establishment

Question 15: Has a framework of one or more independent mechanism(s) been established/designated in law by the State Party to promote, protect and monitor implementation of the CRPD?

Article 33(2) - functions

- Question 16: What activities are being carried out by mechanisms in the framework to promote the rights of persons with disabilities? How does the framework coordinate with other bodies (including government) that are carrying out promotional and awareness-raising activities?
- Question 17: What activities are being carried out by the mechanisms in the framework to protect the rights of persons with disabilities?
- Question 18: What activities are the framework and the independent mechanisms carrying out to monitor implementation of the CRPD?
- Question 19: How do representatives of civil society, including persons with disabilities and their representative organisations, participate throughout the monitoring process? How is such participation meaningful?

Article 33(2) - form and structure

- Question 20: How is the composition of the Article 33(2) framework pluralistic? How has composition been decided?
- Question 21: How have the mechanisms in the Article 33(2) framework demonstrated their independence?



Chapter 7. Glossary of Terminology and List of Abbreviations

Accessibility: Article 9 of the CRPD requires <u>States Parties</u> to take a range of actions to ensure that people with <u>disabilities</u> are able to live independently and participate fully in their communities. This includes developing, disseminating and monitoring implementation of minimum standards and guidelines for accessibility of public services and facilities; providing training on accessibility issues; providing accessible signage and live assistance (guides, readers, interpreters) in public spaces, promoting access for persons with <u>disabilities</u> to new information and communications technologies, and promoting the design, development, production and distribution of accessible information and communications technologies.

Advocacy: Advocacy includes a wide range of actions that individuals or groups can take through speech, writing or actions to influence the formation or implementation of polices and programmes, secure rights, obtain services, or influence the allocation of public resources. Advocacy can take the form of peer, citizen, professional or legal advocacy, and can be conducted on behalf of oneself or others.

Civil Society: Civil society is comprised of civic and social organisations and represents a third sector of society that is distinct from government and the private sector. A healthy civil society forms the basis of a functioning democracy and requires un-coerced collective action for social development and public interest. Civil society participation lies at the centre of the CRPD and civil society participation in monitoring implementation of the CRPD must include persons with <u>disabilities</u> and their representative organisations, as well as any other NGOs or individuals seeking to <u>promote</u>, <u>protect</u> or <u>monitor</u> implementation of the CRPD.

Commissioner for Human Rights, Council of Europe: A person appointed as an independent institution within the Council of Europe, who promotes the awareness of and respect for human rights in the Council of Europe Member States.

Communication: According to Article 2 of the CRPD, which sets out key definitions for the Convention, communication, "includes languages, display of text, Braille, tactile communication, large print, accessible multimedia as well as written, audio, plain-language, human-reader and augmentative and alternative modes, means and formats of communication, including accessible information and communication technology." Article 2 also sets out the language, "includes spoken and signed languages and other forms of non spoken languages."

Coordination Mechanism: Article 33(1) of the CRPD requires <u>States Parties</u> to give due consideration to the establishment of a coordination mechanism within government to facilitate the action horizontally across and vertically throughout government necessary for full and effective implementation of the CRPD. See chapter 4 of these guidelines for a discussion on the Article 33(1) coordination mechanism.

Disability: The preamble to the CRPD describes disability as an "evolving concept" that "results from the interaction between persons with impairments and attitudinal and environmental barriers that hinders their full and effective participation in society on an equal basis with others." Article 1 of the CRPD provides further interpretation and sets out that "persons with disabilities include those who have long-term physical, mental, intellectual or



sensory impairments which in interaction with various barriers may hinder their full and effective participation in society on an equal basis with others."

Focal Point: Article 33(1) of the CRPD requires <u>States Parties</u> to designate one or more focal points in government for matters relating to implementation of the Convention. See chapter 4 of these guidelines for a discussion on the Article 33(1) focal points.

Framework: Article 33(2) of the CRPD requires <u>States Parties</u> to designate or establish within the State Party a framework including one or more independent mechanisms to <u>promote</u>, <u>protect</u> and <u>monitor</u> implementation of the CPRD. See chapter 5 of these guidelines for a discussion on the Article 33(2) framework.

Independent Mechanism: Article 33(2) of the CRPD requires <u>States Parties</u> to designate or establish within the State Party a framework including one or more independent mechanisms to <u>promote</u>, <u>protect</u> and <u>monitor</u> implementation of the CPRD. See chapter 5 for a discussion on the Article 33(2) framework and the independent mechanisms it includes.

Monitor human rights: Monitoring implementation of an international human rights treaty is a way of assessing whether domestic legislation, policy and practice comply with the obligations set out in a treaty. It is a way of determining the effectiveness of measures taken by a government in its attempt to implement a treaty. It is a way to hold government to account for its human rights obligations. Monitoring includes gathering information on implementation (see Article 31 of the CRPD, and see section 4.1.7 of the guidelines, above), urging human rights violations to be stopped, remedied and prevented. It is also a way to encourage <u>States Parties</u> to cooperate with international monitoring mechanisms.

National Human Rights Institution (NHRI): An organisation established by the State to promote and protect human rights at the domestic level. According to the <u>Paris Principles</u>, an NHRI should be independent from government and be representative of civil society and have a broad mandate to <u>promote</u> and <u>protect</u> human rights. While the specific mandate of NHRIs differs from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, their activities may include providing guidance on human rights issues to government, advising on legislation, conducting inquiries, disseminating materials, dealing with individual complaints, and intervening in court cases.

Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR): The OHCHR is an office of the United Nations Secretariat, based in Geneva, with a mandate to promote and protect human rights. Within the UN, it carries out human rights research, education, public information, and advocacy activities.

Paris Principles: Article 33(2) requires <u>States Parties</u> to "take into account the principles relating to the status and functioning of national institutions for the protection and promotion of human rights". These principles, referred to as the "Paris Principles", set out the basic guidelines for the establishment and strengthening of <u>national human rights institutions</u> (NHRIs). See chapter 5 of these guidelines for a discussion on <u>States Parties</u>' obligation in relation to Article 33(2).

Persons with intellectual disability: An intellectual disability generally means having greater difficulty than most people with intellectual and adaptive functioning due to a long-term condition that is present at birth or before the age of eighteen. People with this label may have greater difficulty in carrying out everyday activities such as communicating and interacting with others, managing money, doing household activities and attending to personal care. While the term 'intellectual disability' is technically distinct from other 'developmental disabilities' these terms are often used interchangeably.



Persons with psycho-social disability: People with psycho-social <u>disabilities</u> are those who experience mental health issues, and/or who identify as 'mental health consumers', 'psychiatric survivors,' or 'mad.' These are not mutually exclusive groups. The rights of people with psycho-disabilities are covered by the CRPD (see Article 1 of the CRPD).

Promote human rights: The promotion of human rights includes both general awareness-raising activities that seek to sensitise the public, policy-makers and other stakeholders about human rights, as well as targeted activities designed to advance effective realisation of a right, set of rights or a human rights instrument for a general or specific audience.

Protect human rights: A <u>State Party</u> to a human rights treaty has a duty protect human rights. This means that it must protect everyone, including people with <u>disabilities</u>, against abuses by non-state actors, such as businesses, healthcare providers, institutions, or other private organisations or individual people. Protection is set out in Article 33(2) as an activity of the <u>framework</u>. The protection of human rights includes activities that aim to uphold human rights through quasi-judicial powers (such as the handling of individual complaints and mediation), activities to provide support to people so that they can claim their rights before domestic courts (such as legal aid and assistance) and the provision of expertise directly to domestic courts to assist in the proper administration of justice. In this way, protection activities involve assisting people to bring individual complaints before domestic, regional and international bodies or tribunals and encouraging government to remedy human rights problems or violations.

Reasonable accommodation: Article 2 of the CRPD defines reasonable accommodation as the "necessary and appropriate modification and adjustments not imposing a disproportionate or undue burden, where needed in a particular case, to ensure to persons with disabilities the enjoyment or exercise on an equal basis with others of all human rights and fundamental freedoms". See chapter 3 of these guidelines for information about reasonable accommodation.

Respect for human rights: The obligation to respect human rights means that States must not interfere with the exercise and enjoyment of the rights of people. They must refrain from any action that violates human rights. They must also eliminate laws, policies and practices that are contrary to human rights.

State Party (plural States Parties): When a state or a regional integration organisation ratifies a covenant, convention or treaty it becomes legally bound to the provisions set out in the instrument and becomes a State Party to that instrument. Within these guidelines, "State Party" refers to a State Party to the CRPD.

Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR): A globally-agreed document that sets out civil and political, as well as economic, social and cultural rights. The UDHR was adopted by the UN General Assembly on 10 December 1948, following the Second World War, and all UN Member States have agreed to uphold it. Although the UDHR was developed as a non-binding instrument, over time some of its provisions have become binding on governments through customary international law.

UN Standard Rules on the Equalization of Opportunities for Persons with Disabilities (Standard Rules): The Standard Rules were adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1993 and present a moral and political commitment by governments to take action to attain equal rights for persons with disabilities. Its 22 rules cover all aspects of life of people with disabilities and serve as a basis for policy-making and technical and economic cooperation.



List of Abbreviations

CRPD UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities

CRPD Committee UN Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities

DPO Disabled people's organisation

ICESCR International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

MDAC Mental Disability Advocacy Center

MDGs Millennium Development Goals

NGO Non-governmental organisation

NHRI National human rights institution

OHCHR Office of the UN High Commissioner of Human Rights

OPCAT Optional Protocol to the UN Convention against Torture

OP-CRPD Optional Protocol to the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities



Chapter 8. Further Resources

Books and Book Chapters

- Oddný Arnardottir and Gerard Quinn (eds), The United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: European and Scandinavian Perspectives (Leiden: Martinus Nijhoff, 2009).
- Federico Fleischmann, "The Role of Civil Society in the Monitoring of the Human Rights of Persons with Disabilities", in National Monitoring Mechanisms of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (Mexico D.F. 2008), 141-152, available at http://www.nhri.net/2008/0805 libro discapacidad.pdf.
- Gábor Gombos and Amita Dhanda, Catalyzing Self-Advocacy: an Experiment in India (Pune: Bapu Trust, 2009).
- Oliver Lewis and Penelope Munro, "Civil Society Involvement in Mental Health Law and Policy Reform" in Mental Health and Human Rights, ed. M. Dudley, D. Silove, and F. Gale (Oxford: Oxford University Press, forthcoming 2011).
- Oliver Lewis, "The Expressive, Educational and Proactive Roles of Human Rights: An Analysis of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities." In B. McSherry and P. Weller (eds), Rethinking Rights-Based Mental Health Laws (Oxford: Hart Publishing, 2010), 97-128.
- Janet Newman, "Joined-up government: the politics of partnership" in Modernising Governance, New Labour, Policy and Society, (London: Sage, 2001).
- Bernadette McSherry (ed), International Trends in Mental Health Laws: A Law in Context Special Issue (The Federation Press: 2008).

Journals

- Gauthier de Beco, "Article 33 (2) of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Another Role for National Human Rights Institutions?" Netherlands Quarterly of Human Rights 29 (1) (2011): 84-106.
- Arlene Kanter (ed), "Special Issue, Symposium: The United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities" Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce, 34 (Spring 2007).
- Michael Stein and Janet Lord, "Monitoring the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: Innovations, Lost Opportunities, and Future Potential", *Human Rights Quarterly* 32 (2010): 691-730.



Websites

Daily Summaries of CRPD negotiations, August 23, 2004, available at:

http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/enable/rights/ahc4sumart25.htm;

http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/enable/rights/documents/ahc6amnestyda25.doc.

Disability High Level Group Reports on the UN CRPD, available at the website of the European Commission, Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion: http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=431&langId=en.

Harvard Project on Disability, Change your life with Human Rights! (The President and Fellows of Harvard College 2008), available at: http://www.hpod.org/pdf/Change Your Life With Human Rights.pdf.

Human Rights Yes!, available at: http://www1.umn.edu/humanrts/edumat/hreduseries/TB6/index2.html.

Involve, available at: http://www.involve.org.uk/.

Partners for Better Policies: A Manual for Mainstreaming, available at: http://www.inclusion-europe.org/MMDP/EN/EN_Manual.pdf.

UN Enable website for the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, available at: http://www.un.org/disabilities/.

Value+ Resources, available at: http://www.eu-patient.eu/Initatives-Policy/Projects/EPF-led-EU-Projects/ValuePlus/Resources/Value-Resources/.

Valuing People: a new strategy for learning disability for the 21st century, available at: http://www.publications.doh.gov.uk/learningdisabilities/access/index.htm.

Other Documents

Asia Pacific Forum, "Disability Issues Paper" (12th Annual Meeting of the Asia Pacific Forum of National Human Rights Institutions, Sydney, Australia, 24-27 September 2007).

Gauthier de Beco and Alexander Hoefmans, "The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: an Integral and Integrated Approach to the Implementation of Disability Rights" – study commissioned by the Belgian Federal Public Service Social Security (2011).

European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights, "The right to political participation of persons with mental health problems and persons with intellectual disabilities" – report available at: http://fra.europa.eu/fraWebsite/research/publications/publications_per_year/pub-vote-disability_en.htm.

Thomas Hammarberg, "Opinion of the Commissioner for human rights on national structures for promoting equality" (Strasbourg, 21 March 2011), available at: https://wcd.coe.int/wcd/ViewDoc.jsp?id=1761031.



- International Disability Caucus, "Draft Article 25 International and National Monitoring and Other Aspects of Implementation" (8 August 2005) available at: www.un.org/esa/socdev/enable/rights/documents/ahc6idcda25.doc.
- Joint Committee on Human Rights, "The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, First Report of Session 2008-09", HL Paper 9, HC 93, (4 January 2009).
- National Human Rights Institutions, "Draft Text on Monitoring", 6th Session of the Ad Hoc Committee (10 August 2005), available at: http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/enable/rights/documents/ahc6nhrida25.doc.
- OHCHR, Principles relating to the Status of National Institutions ("The Paris Principles"), Adopted by General Assembly resolution 48/134 of 20 December 1993, available at: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/law/parisprinciples.htm.
- OHCHR, Thematic Study on the structure and role of national mechanisms for the implementation and monitoring of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, A/HRC/13/29 22 (December 2009), available at: http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/13session/A-HRC-13-29.pdf.
- OHCHR, Training Manual on Human Rights Monitoring, Professional Training Series No. 7 (United Nations, Geneva and New York, 2011), available at: http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/training7Introen.pdf.
- Gerard Quinn, "NHRIs and Next Steps under the UN Convention on the Human Rights of Persons with Disabilities", Nineteenth Session of the Annual Meeting of the International Coordinating Committee (ICC), agenda item 13 (Geneva, 23 March 2007).
- UN General Assembly, Standard Rules on Equalization of Opportunities for Persons with Disabilities, 20 December 1993, A/RES/48/96, available at: http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/enable/dissre00.htm.
- UN Human Rights Council, Thematic study by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the structure and role of national mechanisms for the implementation and monitoring of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, 22 December 2009, A/HRC/13/29, available at: http://www.unhcr.org/refworld/docid/4bbda5062.html.
- University of Bristol, "Monitoring and Implementing the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in the UK: Role of the Government, Statutory and Civil Society Organisations." report from the roundtable at the University of Bristol (9 February 2009).
- Kutsal Yesilkagit and Berend Snijders, "Between Impartiality and Responsiveness: Equality Bodies and Practices of Independence" study commissioned by Equinet, (December 2008), available at: http://www.equineteurope.org/331.html.



Mental Disability Advocacy Center

The Mental Disability Advocacy Center (MDAC) is an international human rights organisation which advances the rights of children and adults with intellectual disabilities and psycho-social disabilities. MDAC uses law to promote equality and social inclusion through strategic litigation, advocacy, research and monitoring and capacity-building.

Our vision is a world of equality – where emotional, mental and learning differences are valued equally; where the inherent autonomy and dignity of each person is fully respected; and where human rights are realised for all persons without discrimination of any form.

Board of Trustees

Michael Bach (Canada) • Peter Bartlett (UK) • Felicity Callard (UK) • Ivan Fiser (Serbia and UK)

Robert Kushen (USA) • Anna Lawson (UK) • Gábor Liener (Hungary)

Executive Director

Oliver Lewis

Staff

Noémi Kiry Ambrus (Operations Director) • Ngila Bevan (Project Manager – UN Advocacy and Litigation) • Ágnes Császár (Advocacy Assistant) • Eszter Csilléry (Financial and Executive Assistant) • Ibolya Fabula (Finance Officer) • Gábor Gombos (Senior Advocacy Officer) Sándor Gurbai (Project Manager – Legal Capacity) • Gábor Halmai (Programmes Assistant) Dorottya Karsay (Project Manager – Detention Monitoring) • Zuzana Kovalová (Legal Officer) Lajos Labossa (Legal Assistant) • Eyong Mbuen (Legal Officer) • Lycette Nelson (Litigation Director) • Natália Simon (Receptionist) • Andrea Spitálszky (Legal Officer) • Orsolya Süveg (Office Cleaner) • Kathryn Vandever (Policy and Advocacy Officer)

Legal Monitors

Dmitri Bartenev, St. Petersburg, Russia • Aneta Genova, Sofia, Bulgaria (Bulgarian Helsinki Committee) • Zuzana Durajová, Barbora Rittichová and Maros Matiasko, Brno, Czech Republic (League of Human Rights)

Consultants

Norbert Bognár (IT) • István Fenyvesi (Publications) • Gavin Garman (Detention Monitoring) Robert Gordon (Legal Capacity) • Maths Jersperson (Legal Capacity) • Sarolta Kozma (Accountant) • Mat Kinton (Detention Monitoring) • Anna Nilsson (Legal Capacity) • Jasna Russo (Research) • Zoltán Várady (Website)

Legal Advisory Network Peter Bartlett (Canada and UK, Chair) • Paul Bowen (UK) • Ira Burmin (USA) • Luke Clements (UK) • Yonko Grozev (Bulgaria) • Aart Hendricks (The Netherlands) • Robert Kushen (USA) Olivier De Schutter (Belgium) • Lilla Farkas (Hungary) • Lovorka Kusan (Croatia) • Anna Lawson (UK) • Vesselina Vandova (Bulgaria)

Recent Volunteers and Interns

Germán Sánchez Díaz de Isla (Spain) • Oana Georgiana Girlescu (Romania) • Anupa Iyer (USA) • Esther Njeri Kamau (Kenya) • Diane Prayle (UK) • Zaruhi Saroyan (Armenia) • Tesfahun Alemayehu Terrefe (Ethiopia)

For additional information contact:

Mental Disability Advocacy Center (MDAC)

H-1051 Budapest

Hercegprímás utca 11, Hungary

Telephone: +36 1413 2730

Fax: +36 1 413 2739

Email: mdac@mdac info

Website: www.mdac.info